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To:

The Honourable the President of the Legislative Council

And: The Honourable the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly

This eighth Annual Report of the Office of Police Integrity (OPI) is
presented to Parliament pursuant to section 28 (1) of the Police Integrity Act
2008. It deals with OPI’s seventh full year of operations.

Ron Bonighton AM
ACTING DIRECTOR, POLICE INTEGRITY
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for the Office of Police
Integrity
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This has been a challenging year for the Office of Police Integrity (OPI). As
well as getting on with the job of meeting the Director’s objects, a focus of
OPI’s activity has been to assist the Department of Justice’s team set up to
establish the new Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission
(IBAC). In addition to very detailed briefings on OPI processes, activities
and operations, advice has been given on legislative provisions. Progressing
legislation took longer than anticipated to bring the new body into being
and close down OPI. It is now apparent that while IBAC commenced
limited operation on 1 July 2012, OPI will continue its current investigative
and reporting role for some time into the new financial year. The success
with which OPI managers undertook the difficult task of holding together
the OPI capability through this period of uncertainty demonstrates both
the resilience of the organisation and the commitment of staff members to
maintaining high standards.

... Michael Strong [and]
Paul Jevtovic ... worked
together to bed down
an effective business
management framework ...

For the first half of the financial year Michael Strong was the Director, Police
Integrity and his deputy was Paul Jevtovic. They worked together to bed
down an effective business management framework, which consolidated
OPI's processes and protocols. Both provided robust leadership through
the often turbulent times encountered by OPI and they were unstinting in
their assistance to me in taking over as Acting Director. My appointment
to act as head of both OPI and IBAC should prove helpful in managing the
transition process.

Working to a plan
In the twelve months from 1 July 2011 OPI has worked according to its
2011–2012 Business Plan which was to:
•	Operate in accordance with our statutory obligations and to achieve
the OPI output performance measures. (OPI’s operational achievements
since 1 July 2011 are set out in the first half of this report.)
• Consolidate and reconcile activities undertaken since OPI’s inception.
• Prepare for the implementation of IBAC.
As this is OPI’s last Annual Report, it is appropriate to reflect on OPI’s
history and some organisational lessons learnt.

Director’s overview
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Lessons learnt
A lengthy establishment phase
It is now more than seven years since OPI commenced operations as a
police oversight and anti-corruption body on 16 November 2004. OPI was
established through amendments to the Police Regulation Act 1958 following
revelations of corruption in the former, and now notorious, Victoria Police
Drug Squad. These amendments created the position of Director, Police
Integrity, who was to be the same person as the Ombudsman. Initially, the
Director’s objects were to:
•	Ensure that the highest ethical and professional standards are maintained in
Victoria Police.
•	Ensure that police corruption and serious misconduct is detected investigated
and prevented.
In January 2007, following the passage of the Charter of Human Rights and
Responsibilities Act 2006 a further object was added: to ensure that members of
the force have regard to the human rights set out in the Charter.
To achieve the objects the Director was provided with a range of investigative
powers, including coercive powers similar to those of a standing royal
commission. In the course of the next three years OPI went on to be
granted a full suite of investigative powers, including powers to intercept
telecommunications, conduct electronic surveillance, undertake controlled
operations and use assumed identities. The stringent accountability and
oversight arrangements for the use of these powers are set out later in this
report in the section on OPI’s Regulatory Compliance.
The use of the Director’s coercive powers is overseen by the Special
Investigations Monitor. These powers were subject to an initial three year
‘sunset clause’. Prior to the expiration of the ‘sunset clause’, the Special
Investigations Monitor was required to report to Parliament about OPI’s
use of those powers. In tabling his report to Parliament in November 2007,
the then Special Investigations Monitor recommended that the coercive
powers be retained. He also recommended, among other things, that the
Director cease to be the Ombudsman and that he or she should be, or be
qualified to be, a judge of the County or a superior Court.

The use of the Director's
coercive powers is
overseen by the Special
Investigations Monitor.
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The Police Integrity Act 2008 was enacted to incorporate the majority of
the Special Investigations Monitor’s recommendations. It provided standalone legislation that consolidated provisions specific to OPI and created
an additional object of the Director which was:
To educate Victoria Police and the general community regarding police
corruption and serious misconduct, including the effect of police
corruption and serious misconduct. 1

OPI took several years
to be granted the full
suite of investigative
powers and build the
associated infrastructure
that would enable it to
become fully operational.

OPI took several years to be granted the full suite of investigative powers
and build the associated infrastructure that would enable it to become fully
operational. Since doing so it has acquired significant corporate knowledge
and learned from its mistakes. It continues to evolve even as it approaches
the time when it will cease to exist.
Common and recurring themes
Common and recurring themes exposed by OPI investigations relate to
the improper or undesirable associations between individual police and
others and the subsequent unlawful release of confidential Victoria Police
information. Numerous OPI investigations have identified direct and
indirect associations between police and criminals, members of organised
crime groups, ex-police seeking to use their former connections, police
suspended from duty while under investigation, or others who have a keen
interest in obtaining access to confidential Victoria Police information.
Evidence of attempts by police to access confidential information for the
purpose of unlawfully relaying it to an associate include:
•	unauthorised searches of police databases on the request of the associate,
and
•	contrived conversations (usually disguised as idle chat) with police
investigators who may have information of interest to the associate.
In some cases police have successfully provided their associates with ‘tip
offs’ about police interest in them or their friends and imminent raids or
arrests.
Many of these undesirable associations are formed within the context of
off-duty interests of police. Common interests in bodybuilding, kickboxing
and other activities involving steroid use and abuse have emerged as
1

See Police Integrity Act 2008 s9
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breeding grounds for improper police associations. Similarly, common
interests in motorbikes have led to improper associations with members of
outlaw motorcycle gangs. Other improper associations have been formed
with people in the security industry and operators of licensed premises and
nightclubs. In several OPI investigations, the same ‘undesirable associate’
has appeared as a person of interest in more than one, otherwise unrelated,
case. This suggests a strategy to intentionally target and cultivate a range
of police with a view to building up a network to call on for future favours.
Attempts to infiltrate police information holdings do not have to rely on
a single source and may be directed at many police sources. Police with
varying levels of seniority all have access to the same databases. The casual
imparting of information by one member of police to a colleague or an
associate may be considered a minor, innocuous breach. But those with
malicious intent can use ‘snippets’ of what may appear to be innocuous
information obtained from numerous sources to ‘join the dots’ for
information that is of value to them.
In one OPI operation, information from a single leaked police document
was found in the hands of a convicted murderer, members of outlaw
motorcycle gangs and serious drug offenders. There is every reason to
suppose that much of the information unlawfully disclosed by police to
criminals or those acting on their behalf is also disseminated more broadly
within some networks.
Understanding corruption
The aim of any police oversight and anti-corruption agency must be the
prevention of corruption and the maintenance of the highest possible
ethical and professional standards.
Although releasing confidential information, stealing, committing fraud,
harassing or assaulting others, using or selling drugs, demanding or
receiving bribes are tangible examples of corruption, much corruption is
by its very nature hidden. As such it is difficult to assess how prevalent
corruption is, or what impact corruption prevention activities might have
on reducing it. However, it is possible to implement strategies aimed at
reducing known risks by building corruption resistance and raising
professional and ethical standards.

11

Attempts to infiltrate
police information
holdings do not have to
rely on a single source
and may be directed to
many police sources.
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OPI has adopted a multi-faceted approach to achieving this goal, with
investigations, education, evaluation of systems and practices, and
complaint audits and reviews all playing different but important roles.
Although the focus of OPI investigations is serious misconduct and
corruption, many of the matters investigated by OPI have not resulted in
criminal prosecutions. What initially appears to be a very serious matter
often turns out to be a less serious disciplinary breach once all the facts
are known. The outcome of these matters usually involves OPI making
recommendations to Victoria Police to undertake disciplinary proceedings
or management action.

... individuals exposed
through investigations
lost not only their
reputations ...

The reverse is also true. On occasion the investigation of less serious
allegations has exposed serious criminal conduct. As is demonstrated in
the case studies of successful prosecutions based on OPI investigations
that appear later in this report, individuals exposed through investigations
lose not only their reputations but their livelihoods. In addition to
ridding Victoria Police of individual wrongdoers, the exposure of serious
misconduct and corruption is intended to act as a deterrent to those who
might have future opportunities to engage in corrupt or criminal activity.
Hence the use of case studies by OPI educators and in our publications.
Equally, OPI investigations may exonerate individuals. Along with the
review of complaints that are not substantiated and OPI’s review of systems
and practices, OPI is able to use all the operational information it acquires
in various ways to support Victoria Police to maintain professional and
ethical standards.
OPI’s audit and review of Victoria Police’s handling of complaints serves
a dual role. It operates to determine areas that give rise to public concerns
and it can aid in early warning of some areas where there may be systemic
weaknesses. This information in turn informs education strategies and
provides focus for OPI’s systemic reviews.
Measuring performance
Over the years OPI’s integrated approach to building corruption resistance
within Victoria Police has focused on key issues. They include:
•	Improper associations, secondary employment and other issues to do
with managing conflict of interest.
•	Excessive use of force and police shootings, including the investigation
of deaths associated with police contact.

Director’s overview
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•	Victoria Police complaint management and discipline systems.
•	Information technology systems including Law Enforcement Assistance
Program (LEAP) and the Register of Complaints, Serious Incidents and
Discipline database.
•	Ethical leadership and flexible workforce management.
•	Conditions in police cells.
There is recent evidence that OPI’s work in influencing some of these
areas is gaining traction. Victoria Police has introduced significant
reforms regarding registration of declarable associations and secondary
employment. It has revised its training in relation to use of force and is
adopting a ‘lessons learnt’ approach to critical incidents and deaths
associated with police contact. OPI’s ethics training resources are now
central to Victoria Police’s recruit training and will form a basis for the
sergeants’ qualifying course.
In her November 2011 report into the inquest of a 15 year old shot and
killed by police in 2008, State Coroner Judge Jennifer Coate referenced and
endorsed OPI recommendations from a number of reports, in particular
the Review of the investigative process following a death associated with police
contact (tabled June 2011).
The report of the Victorian Government’s special inquiry into the command,
management and functions of the senior structure of Victoria Police led
by Mr John (Jack) Rush similarly endorsed recommendations made in a
number of OPI reports on systems reviews.2 The Government’s response to
that report and provisions in its Enterprise Bargaining Agreement with the
Police Association also embed a number of reforms recommended by OPI
in its 2011 report Enabling a flexible workforce for policing in Victoria.
The work OPI has done in some of these key issues should serve as baseline
integrity indicators (for example prevalence of use of force) against which
long-term sustained organisational change for Victoria Police will be able
to be measured.
Relationship with Victoria Police
OPI officers have, over the years, established significant professional
relationships with their counterparts within Victoria Police. These
relationships are formed on the basis of achieving a common goal 2

State Services Authority 2011 Inquiry into the command, management and functions of the senior structure of
Victoria Police

There is recent evidence
that OPI's work in
influencing some of these
areas is gaining traction.
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ensuring the highest possible ethical and professional standards for
Victoria Police. Without these relationships and the cooperation and
collaboration of members of Victoria Police, OPI would not have been able
to undertake many of its successful activities, including joint operations
and the development of valuable educational resources.
In addition to striving for a common goal, key factors that underpin
these relationships are commitment to continuous improvement, clear
accountabilities in relation to contact between OPI officers and members
of Victoria Police, a clear understanding of each agency’s role, professional
relationships based on mutual respect and a healthy attitude to frank and
open debate.
Resilience

A successful anticorruption agency must
ensure it has dedicated
and resilient staff who
can draw on values such
as integrity and courage
in the face of a hostile
external environment.

A review of OPI’s history provides an important insight for any anticorruption agency. This insight is derived from the intense public scrutiny
to which OPI has been subjected. That scrutiny is to be expected given
the nature of its investigative powers. Unfortunately, in OPI’s experience,
that scrutiny can sometimes focus disproportionately on isolated
incidents or individuals. Even the most simple of human errors can have
important and long-standing negative consequences on the reputation of
an anti-corruption agency. 3 This can detract from the achievements of the
organisation as a whole in influencing positive change. A successful anticorruption agency must ensure it has dedicated and resilient staff who
can draw on values such as integrity and courage in the face of a hostile
external environment.
As the following sections demonstrate, despite the uncertainties associated
with the implementation of IBAC and recurrent media criticism, OPI staff
have remained focused on achieving the Director’s objects.
2012–2013 will again be a year that will test the resilience of OPI staff.
When my term ends in December 2012, I am hopeful that IBAC will be
firmly established and that the transfer of powers will be well under way.
I thank OPI personnel for their enthusiastic support during my tenure and
I know that their dedication and professionalism will provide a solid base
for the new IBAC.

3

See Victorian Privacy Commission February 2006 Jenny’s case – Report of an investigation into the Office of
Police Integrity and the timing of the delegation of Murray Wilcox in the Ashby/Mullett case.
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Key outputs 2011 – 2012

No.

Number of serving or former police employees against whom criminal
charges were recommended

*4

Number of criminal charges recommended against serving or former
police employees

39

Number of serving police employees against whom discipline
intervention was recommended

12

Number of civilians against whom criminal charges were recommended

2

Number of criminal charges recommended against civilians

25

New investigations commenced

11

Technological support to another agency’s investigations

48

Summonses issued by Director

64

Witnesses examined in hearings

44

Complaints to Director

697

Finalised reviews of complaints handled by Victoria Police

174

Number of matters monitored involving deaths associated with police
contact or near-miss incidents including firearms discharged

28

New enquiries and informal complaints

1440

Interpreter/translator assisted enquiries

34

Reports tabled in Parliament

** 6

Corruption prevention initiatives, including educational presentations

57

* Includes results arising from joint investigations with Victoria Police
** Includes the Annual Report Financial year ended 30 June 2011
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2011–2012 Events calendar

July 2011	OPI delivers the Police Ethics Resource Kit for Victoria Police recruits'
training.
	OPI hosts a meeting of Coercive Powers Agencies Lawyers in
Victorian-based Commonwealth and State agencies.
August 2011	OPI hosts a delegation from Vietnam’s Office of Central Steering
Committee on Anti-Corruption.
	OPI publishes a guide for small business owners Offering gifts and
benefits to police.
September 2011	OPI report Enabling a flexible workforce for policing in Victoria tabled in
Parliament.
OPI Annual Report 2011 tabled in Parliament.
	Introduction of OPI’s Conflict of Interest Wheel into Victoria Police’s
recruits curriculum.
	OPI contributes to the establishment of the Australian AntiCorruption Commissions Forum.
October 2011

OPI report Crossing the line tabled in Parliament.

November 2011	OPI hosts the fourth Annual Police Reform Advisory Group Forum.
	OPI hosts a Technical Surveillance conference for Crime and
Misconduct Commission and South Australian Police – Anti
Corruption Branch.
December 2011	OPI commences a rolling program of facilitated Integrity Protection
Plan workshops to regional and metropolitan police stations.
January 2012	Michael Strong Director, Police Integrity resigns.
Paul Jevtovic Deputy Director, Police Integrity resigns.
	Ron Bonighton commences duty as Acting Director, Police Integrity.
	Dr Diane Sydenham commences duty as Acting Deputy Director,
Police Integrity.
	OPI commences delivering ethical leadership training to Victoria
Police senior sergeants’ promotional course.
	Member of police pleads guilty in Bendigo Magistrates' Court to
hindering the Director (Operation Omnia).
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February 2012	Two former members of Victoria Police plead guilty to misleading the
Director in the Melbourne Magistrates' Court (Operation Chlorine).
April 2012

OPI Information Security Cube launched.

	Former member of Victoria Police found guilty of Commonwealth
sex offences in Melbourne County Court (Operation Rhythm).
May 2012	OPI report Review of Victoria Police use of ‘stop and search’ powers tabled
in Parliament.
	Former member of police pleads guilty to unauthorised disclosure of
information at Melbourne Magistrates' Court (Operation Albatross).
	Former member of police pleads guilty to three counts of disclosing
LEAP information and one count of possession of a drug of
dependence in Melbourne Magistrates' Court. His civilian associate
pleads guilty to wilfully misleading the Director, Police Integrity
(Operation Mercury).
June 2012	OPI hosts a delegation from China’s Ministry of Supervision.
	OPI participates in National Police Oversight and Integrity
Agencies Researchers’ forum.
	OPI report Reporting wrongdoing in the workplace: problems for police
tabled in Parliament.
	OPI report Victoria Police: recurring themes in the management of high
profile investigations tabled in Parliament.
	Ron Bonighton’s dual appointment announced. He is to continue as
Acting Director, Police Integrity and is Victoria’s inaugural Acting
Commissioner of IBAC.
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Investigations help
in understanding the
context for serious
misconduct and
corruption

19

20

Achieving the Director's objects

Achieving the Director’s objects

Investigating serious misconduct and corruption
OPI’s investigative functions are a key component to achieving the
Director’s objects. Although some investigations exonerate police, many
investigations expose serious misconduct and corruption, act as a deterrent
and, where appropriate, rid Victoria Police of those who would bring it
into disrepute. Investigations help in understanding the context for serious
misconduct and corruption. This in turn informs prevention strategies.
Historically it has been difficult to report meaningfully on the scope of OPI
investigations. Many investigations are resource-intensive and those that
culminate in criminal prosecutions often span one or more years. The 20102011 Annual Report correctly predicted that many of OPI’s then ongoing
investigations would be finalised in this reporting period. The outcomes of
some of these investigations are included as case studies below.
In this reporting period OPI commenced 11 new investigations. Five of these
were ‘own motion’ investigations initiated by the Director. The remainder
arose from complaints or were investigations of public interest disclosures
referred for investigation by the Ombudsman pursuant to the provisions of
the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001.
OPI investigators were also actively involved in overseeing a number of
Victoria Police investigations including investigations of deaths associated
with police contact and the homicide investigation into the death of prison
inmate Carl Williams.
As at 30 June 2012 there were a total of 60 open investigations at various
stages of the investigation process.
Types of allegations
The nature of investigations undertaken by OPI during the reporting period
included allegations of:
•	Possession and trafficking a drug of dependence (Human Growth
Hormones).
•	Unauthorised disclosure of confidential police information.
•	Improper associations between current serving police and non-Victoria
Police employees.
•	Theft.
•	Unauthorised secondary employment.

Achieving the Director's objects

•	Victimisation of witnesses.
•	Compromise of police investigations.
•	Assault.
•	Pervert the course of justice.
•	Mislead the Director, Police Integrity.
•	Misconduct in public office.
•	Offences relating to the transmission, use and procurement of indecent
material for the purposes of sexual activity.
Investigation outcomes
Since 1 July 2011 a number of complex and long-term investigations have
been finalised and achieved significant outcomes, including five which
culminated in successful criminal prosecutions. As at 30 June 2012, there is
one more long-standing OPI investigation listed for hearing in 2012–2013.
In all of the successful prosecutions during this reporting period the
members of police who were the subject of OPI’s investigations pleaded
guilty to the offences they were charged with prior to being sentenced. Five
of the six accused resigned prior to their hearings. The other accused person
resigned from Victoria Police prior to the outcome of a disciplinary hearing.
On several occasions, sentencing Magistrates' commented on the important
work of OPI and reinforced OPI’s concerns about inappropriate leaking
of confidential Victoria Police information and the associated breach of
public trust.
In addition to preparing reports of investigations that will be the subject
of Coronial inquiries, a number of other OPI investigations have resulted
in recommendations to Victoria Police for disciplinary interventions and
policy change. Several have formed the basis for OPI’s Parliamentary
reports, including Crossing the line and Victoria Police: recurring themes in the
management of high profile investigations.
Despite achieving these outcomes, only 68 percent of investigations finalised
during this reporting period achieved a ‘significant outcome’ according to
the budget performance targets set by Government. A ‘significant outcome’
for the purposes of these targets includes investigations that result in
criminal or disciplinary proceedings or in recommendations for policy,
procedure change or counselling and training. An investigation that results
in exonerating someone is not considered to be a ‘significant outcome’.
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The Government’s budget targets aim for significant outcomes in 75 percent
of investigations. This budget target for investigations was not reached
due to a number of factors, including the fact that a number of mandatory
investigations were undertaken but did not result in a ‘significant outcome’
because allegations were unfounded or unable to be substantiated. In
addition OPI has limited investigative resources. These resources can be
depleted very quickly. For example, there was a significant demand on
investigative resources associated with preparing for, and instructing in the
prosecution of, the five criminal cases that were finalised in the first half of
2012. A further barrier to achieving budget targets for investigative outcomes
has been difficulties associated with retaining or attracting appropriately
skilled investigators due to uncertain career prospects associated with the
transition to IBAC.
Notwithstanding these difficulties, the following case studies demonstrate
the breadth of work undertaken by OPI investigators.
Successful prosecutions
The following case studies reveal recurring themes identified in many of
OPI’s public reports. They include:
•	The propensity for some police to lie and cover-up the wrongdoing of
others.
•	Leaking confidential Victoria Police information.
•	Inappropriate and improper associations.
•	Inappropriate or illegal off-duty conduct.

Operation Omnia
In the course of undertaking a search as part of an OPI investigation
into an alleged assault by a member of police, another member of
police attempted to hide his colleague’s official diary and daybook.
This member of police, a Senior Constable, was charged with hindering
the Director, Police Integrity.4 He pleaded guilty to the offence and
was sentenced on 23 January 2012 at Bendigo Magistrates' Court. He
was convicted and fined $5000. Subsequently, Victoria Police initiated
disciplinary charges but the Senior Constable resigned shortly before
the discipline finding was handed down.

Achieving the Director's objects

In sentencing the Senior Constable, the presiding Magistrate said:4
When a person is sworn in as a member, a person is sworn in to uphold
the law and not to do such as might hinder the law being done properly.
In this instance, yes, you were horribly misguided … There's a great deal
of criticism levelled at police officers these days, much of it misguided in
itself, but in some instances, as in this instance, it's rightfully levelled at
someone like yourself because an individual can bring the whole police
force down, when it's all said and done … But what was worse is when
asked to act as you've acted, you didn't say, "No mate, I'm not going to –
that makes me complicit in what's going on. I'm not going to leave myself
open to that." 5
Operation Chlorine
In the course of an ‘own motion’ investigation into allegations of
serious misconduct by police officers at a country police station,
two members of police who were under under oath were found
to have deliberately attempted to mislead the Director in a private
examination. Although no charges were laid in relation to the
substantive allegations, both members of police were charged
with attempting to mislead the Director. They both resigned from
Victoria Police before pleading guilty to the offences on 23 February
2012 at Melbourne Magistrates' Court. Each was fined $4000 with no
conviction recorded.

As has been reported previously, many police who give evidence in an
OPI examination appear reluctant to tell the truth.6 Anyone found to have
deliberately attempted to mislead or obstruct the Director can be rigorously
pursued with the full weight of the law. This ensures the reputation and
effectiveness of OPI’s examination process. The aim is not to catch people
out but to get to the truth of the matters concerning allegations of police
corruption or serious misconduct.
The reluctance of some police to assist in that process is an indictment on
their integrity. It reflects a historic ‘code of silence’ that must be assigned to
the past if police are to retain the trust of the community they serve.
4
5
6

See Police Integrity Act 2008 s113
Mr Wilson, Bendigo Magistrates' Court 23 January 2012 – Sentencing remarks transcript pp18 –19
Office of Police Integrity June 2012 Reporting wrongdoing in the workplace: problems for police p31

23

24

Achieving the Director's objects

Operation Albatross
In November 2010, OPI commenced an ‘own motion’ investigation
into allegations that a senior member of police ‘leaked’ confidential
Victoria Police information to the media and members of the public.
The information related to two police investigations into alleged
sexual offences involving high profile sporting identities.
The subject of the investigation resigned from Victoria Police shortly
before pleading guilty to unauthorised disclosure of sensitive
confidential information contrary to Police Regulations Act 1958 s127A
at the Melbourne Magistrates' Court on 15 May 2012.
He was sentenced without conviction on a two year adjourned
undertaking and required to pay $5000 to a nominated service
within the field of violence/sexual assault against women.
In delivering the sentence in this case, the presiding Magistrate made
particular reference to OPI’s work in influencing enhancements of the
Victoria Police media policy. He also noted that the former member of
police had committed a very serious breach of public trust in disclosing the
information.
Operation Mercury
On 28 October 2010, OPI commenced an ‘own motion’ investigation
into allegations a Victoria Police Crime Squad detective had engaged
in improper associations, disclosed confidential police information
and was in possession of a drug of dependence (steroids).
The detective was arrested on 28 December 2010 in a joint OPI/
Victoria Police Ethical Standards Department operation. He was on
duty, driving an unmarked police vehicle and found in possession
of 459 grams of a drug of dependence. The drug was a steroid,
Testosterone Propionate. Primarily a veterinary product used for the
treatment of animals, this drug is also used illegally for the purposes
of bodybuilding.
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The coordinated operation included a search of police
and private premises. As a result, the detective and a
civilian associate with a criminal history were arrested and
charged with offences relating to the unlawful disclosure of
information and drug possession, counselling and procuring
information and misleading the Director, Police Integrity.
The detective resigned from Victoria Police shortly before pleading
guilty to three counts of disclosing Victoria Police LEAP information
and one count of possession of a drug of dependence. On 29 May
2012 at Melbourne Magistrates' Court he was sentenced to three
months imprisonment fully suspended and fined a total of $10,500.
His civilian associate was convicted and fined a total of $12,500, after
pleading guilty to wilfully misleading the Director, Police Integrity.

In sentencing the detective, the presiding Magistrate said the detective’s
crimes went to the heart of the integrity of Victoria Police and public
confidence in police. The Magistrate went on to say:
The community has a right to have a high expectation of police officers in
whom it places its trust … A breach of the integrity of that database will
not only put at risk significant police investigations but also the lives of
specific individuals.7

7

Mr Rozencwajg Melbourne Magistrates' Court 29 May 2012 – Sentencing remarks transcript p6
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Operation Rhythm
In late 2011, OPI and Victoria Police conducted a joint investigation
into a member of Victoria Police engaged in offences related to
the transmission, use and procurement of indecent material for
the purposes of sexual activity. The investigation resulted in the
execution of search warrants and the person was eventually charged
with a number of Commonwealth offences. The individual resigned
from Victoria Police prior to being sentenced on 12 April 2012 at
the Melbourne County Court. He was sentenced to 33 months
imprisonment (he is to serve a minimum of eight months) with two
years recognisance upon release. He is also to undergo assessment
for sex offender rehabilitation and be included on the sex offender
register for a period of eight years.
This investigation is an example of the collaborative way in which OPI and
Victoria Police’s Ethical Standards Department engage in joint operations.
This is often necessary due to limitations in OPI’s powers, including a lack
of power to arrest and inability to seize drugs.

Professional standards assurance
Complaint investigation reviews
Under the Police Integrity Act 2008, most complaints to OPI that warrant
investigation must be referred to Victoria Police. Upon completion, OPI
officers review the investigations undertaken by police. OPI also monitors
complaints made directly to Victoria Police and reviews the investigation
of these matters where they relate to areas of concern or interest to OPI.
During this financial year, OPI monitored and reviewed Victoria Police’s
management of 174 complaints.
Following a review, OPI can request further investigation or action if
there appears to be a deficiency in any investigation or the handling of a
complaint. In this way any concerns in relation to Victoria Police’s complaint
handling or investigation processes can be identified and addressed with a
view to ongoing continuous improvement.
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In 2011–2012 OPI requested further investigation, action or consideration
of a specific issue in 24 cases (13.8 percent of all matters reviewed). In one
case the action taken by Victoria Police was not considered sufficient to
address OPI’s concerns. In the remaining 23 of these cases Victoria Police
undertook the action which had been requested and OPI was satisfied that
the further action was sufficient to address OPI’s concerns. In two of these
cases Victoria Police changed practices and processes as a result of the
concerns raised by OPI.
Review checklist reports
Since mid 2009 OPI has captured data relating to OPI reviews of Victoria
Police complaint investigations in a single database. The data includes
information relating to the substance of the investigation, the investigator,
review processes within Victoria Police, the identification of peripheral
issues and the appropriateness of findings and recommendations.
In 2011–2012, OPI used the data to produce a report for Victoria Police
indicating six-monthly snap shots on the quality of investigations undertaken
during the previous two years. The report demonstrates that OPI review
officers were satisfied with the quality of the great majority of Victoria
Police investigations, although more contact with complainants and relevant
witnesses would be likely to improve community confidence in Victoria
Police complaint handling processes. An overview of the data indicates
that increasing attention is being given by investigators to peripheral issues.
This demonstrates an increased willingness to learn from complaints for
whole-of-organisational improvement. OPI intends to continue to update
Victoria Police on this trend data to facilitate opportunities for continuous
improvement.
Oversight of deaths and critical incidents
In implementing the framework developed by OPI in 2010 – 2011 to review
and oversee investigations undertaken by Victoria Police into deaths
associated with police contact, 12 matters were selected for review during
2011–2012. A further ten investigations into a death were the subject of
more active oversight. This ranged from requests for an initial briefing
upon the commencement of an investigation to participation as an ongoing
observer in an investigation management committee.
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During the reporting period OPI also monitored six non-fatal shootings or
near-miss incidents involving the discharge of a firearm.
In May 2012, OPI representatives attended an oversight investigation
framework workshop run by the Ethical Standards Department of Victoria
Police. Using criteria established under the framework, the workshop
examined the effectiveness of investigations and oversight staff in
managing cases of deaths associated with police contact.
Audit
In 2011–2012, OPI audited Victoria Police’s investigation and management
of allegations of unauthorised access to and improper disclosure of
confidential information by Victoria Police members during an eight year
period. The audit involved the review of more than 140 investigation files.
It was anticipated that the audit report would be published in June 2012,
but some investigations from the 2011 data set had not been concluded by
the end of the financial year. The report is in the process of being finalised.

Statistics
New complaints received 2011 – 2012
Count

%

Matters for investigation by OPI

5

0.7%

Under assessment/preliminary
enquiries/awaiting further details

15

2.2%

Complaints referred to Victoria Police
for investigation and OPI review

164

23.5%

Complaints referred to Victoria Police
for local resolution and OPI review

13

1.8%

Statutory notifications for investigations
by Victoria Police for OPI review

86

12.4%

Matters not within jurisdiction or
not warranting investigation

213

30.6%

Complaints referred to Victoria
Police for local resolution

201

28.8%

Total

*697

* Refers to new complaints investigations received in 2011 – 2012, does not include monitoring
of deaths associated with police contact or near-miss incidents or own motion investigations
or investigations commenced in 2011 – 2012 but received prior.
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Complaint allegations 2011 – 2012
Count

%

6

0.4%

Inappropriate behaviour

459

26.6%

Duty failure

740

42.9%

Information mismanagement

69

4.0%

Property/equip/exhibit management

36

2.1%

Traffic-related

15

0.8%

Assault (inc sexual)/excessive force

261

15.2%

Criminality/corruption

124

7.2%

Drug involvement

13

0.8%

Human rights

*Total

**1723

Investigation allegations 2011 – 2012
Count

%

Drug involvement

2

8.7%

Duty failure

1

4.3%

Criminality/corruption

14

60.9%

Inappropriate behaviour

2

8.7%

Information mismanagement

2

8.7%

Property/equip/exhibit management

1

4.3%

Assault (inc sexual)/excessive force

1

4.3%

Total

**23

* T
 he total allegations include those contained in written complaints received by the Director and
allegations received by telephone that have not resulted in a formal complaint.
** For any investigation, formal or informal complaint, there may be one or more allegation.
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Building corruption resistance
OPI uses the findings of its investigations to identify the context for serious
misconduct and corruption. OPI also uses trends identified in OPI’s
complaints and investigations and information from other jurisdictions to
inform the content of its face-to-face presentations, its educational resources
and the focus of other activities intended to build integrity and corruption
resistance.
Managing conflicting interests – interactive wheel
Last year, OPI developed a 'ready reckoner' for police to reinforce some
key principles for managing conflicting interests, including managing
declarable associations. The ‘wheel’ is now distributed in hard-copy format
to all Probationary Constables on completion of their training at Victoria
Police’s Academy and on request to police stations for local training use.
The OPI wheel has also attracted the attention of the University of Western
Sydney, Origin Energy and the NSW Government Transport Construction
Authority. These agencies now have OPI’s approval to use the wheel with
any necessary modifications to meet their specific needs.
During this reporting period the wheel was also converted to an interactive
internet based learning tool. Site visitors can now have more in-depth
engagement with principles and strategies to manage conflicting interests.
iPhone® Application for managing conflicting interests
Building on the interest shown in the interactive wheel, OPI sought to make
its content more accessible, particularly to younger police, by developing
an iPhone® application. The application can be downloaded free of charge.
As with the interactive wheel, the application offers users information on
principles and strategies to guide the management of conflicting interests
but in a format more suitable to an increasingly larger cohort of police.
Information security awareness cube
As demonstrated by OPI’s successful prosecutions, the unauthorised
release of confidential Victoria Police information continues to be a
problem. Accordingly, information security principles remained a focus of
OPI’s education and prevention work in this reporting period.
In an attempt to capture attention on this topic, OPI developed an innovative
resource – An information security awareness cube. It is a tangible item – in the
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shape of a cube – designed to invite exploration and reflection by the user.
The cube identifies some stop-and-think opportunities intended to prevent
the inadvertent release of sensitive or confidential information. Since its
launch in March, the cube has been distributed to every attendee at an
OPI Probationary Constables course presentation. OPI has also provided
a number of the cubes to Victoria Police’s Information Management,
Standards and Security Division to support its education programs.
Integrity Risk Management Guide
From 1 July 2011, OPI received increased numbers of requests to facilitate
integrity risk management workshops at local police stations. In response
to this increased demand, and to support Victoria Police managers to
conduct their own integrity risk assessments, OPI produced a step-bystep guide. Designed primarily for use by station managers, supervisors,
training officers, Ethics and Professional Standards Officers, the guide will
assist managers to develop local strategies to address integrity risks. The
guide can be downloaded from OPI’s website or used as a screen-based
resource. An e-Learning module will be published in the coming months.
Ethical Leadership Resource Kit for Sergeants
Following the success of the Ethics Resource Kit for Recruits last year, OPI
has continued working collaboratively with Victoria Police’s Education
Department to produce a kit suitable for sergeants. The Ethical Leadership
Resource Kit for Sergeants is tailored to reflect the responsibilities of
sergeants and senior sergeants to act in accordance with Victoria Police’s
values and to demonstrate and maintain integrity in the workplace. It is
intended that the kit will be included as part of the curriculum for the
recently revived promotion course for sergeants. Completion of this course
is now a mandatory prerequisite for anyone seeking promotion to the rank
of sergeant. The inclusion of a significant ethics component in the course
is evidence of Victoria Police’s commitment to ensuring ethical leadership
within its ranks.
Ethical Health Assessment Tool
OPI has continued work on developing an ethical health assessment tool
that can be used as a diagnostic instrument to assist in enhancing a law
enforcement agency’s ethical health framework. Consultation with anticorruption agencies around Australia has been undertaken to refine it,
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with Victoria Police provided with the opportunity to trial a draft version.
It is now launched on OPI’s website as a living document so police from
different organisational areas can access it.
Fact sheet for Peer Support Officers
Following an approach from Victoria Police’s Peer Support Coordinator, OPI
developed a resource specifically for use by Peer Support Officers. Their role
is to provide peer support to colleagues but this can be problematic if the
colleague has been summoned to an examination in an OPI investigation.
Except in limited circumstances, the confidentiality provisions in the Police
Integrity Act 2008 prohibit anyone from revealing information about the
investigation including the fact of the summons. A Peer Support Officer
may be at risk of inadvertently breaching the provisions where he or she
thinks a colleague seeking support is involved in an OPI investigation.
The Fact sheet for Peer Support Officers provides information to guide Peer
Support Officers in these circumstances.
Gifts and benefits to police
As part of OPI’s objective to educate the community about corruption and
its effects, OPI produced a booklet primarily intended for use by small
businesses. Building on research conducted last year, which explored why
people offer police gifts and benefits, the booklet seeks to inform potential
gift-givers about the risks for police in accepting gifts. The booklet
includes suggestions for alternate ways small businesses or members of
the community can recognise and reward good police work.
The development of the booklet relied heavily on the support of Small
Business Victoria and has been promoted in their newsletter and on their
website. Printed copies are available at the Small Business Information
Centre in Melbourne’s Central Business District.
Requests for prevention and education advice
The number of requests for consultancy, advice, and education presentations
continued to grow this year. In addition to increased numbers of requests to
facilitate Integrity Protection Plan workshops, OPI has invested significant
time and resources providing consultancy services, undertaking research
and facilitating workshops with Victoria Police’s Information Management,
Standards and Security Division this year. This was to support the
division’s efforts to meet the Commissioner for Law Enforcement Data
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Security Standards’ recommendations, implement a training program and
commence work on culture change initiatives.
Despite the tight timetable on the Probationary Constable’s course,
OPI continues to present to this course. In response to Victoria Police’s
increased recruitment and training schedules, OPI doubled the number of
presentations it delivered in this reporting period compared to previous
years, making a total of 16.
In addition OPI representatives conducted nine presentations to Discipline
Investigators’ Courses in metropolitan and regional areas outlining OPI’s
role and focus when reviewing Victoria Police complaint investigations.
OPI also had a standing time-slot with Victoria Police’s Operational
Response Unit Leadership Group training days throughout the year.
Police Reform Advisory Group
Members of the Police Reform Advisory Group (PRAG) continued to
contribute to OPI’s work towards strengthening Victoria Police’s integrity
and culture. A key joint initiative this year was the development of a guide
for police to support them to speak up when faced with ethical dilemmas.
The resource called Words that Work is intended to be a living document
which uses scenarios of common ethical problems and provides suggestions
that PRAG members have found useful for how to respond when 'put on the
spot'. PRAG members and others will continue to add to the resource further
positive and constructive strategies based on experience. The resource was
uploaded to OPI’s website in August 2012.

Reporting to Parliament
In addition to reporting annually on OPI’s performance, OPI tabled five
Parliamentary reports during the reporting period.
Enabling a flexible workforce for policing in Victoria (September 2011)
This report into enabling a flexible workforce for policing followed OPI’s 2010
issues paper Flexible work practices for policing. It explored in detail the more
contentious and challenging of the matters identified in the issues paper.
Such matters included the strain in some areas of Victoria Police associated
with a rapid increase in recruit numbers. The report recommended that
rather than focus on police numbers, recruitment should occur in the
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context of strategic workforce planning. Such planning should factor in
changing demographics, demand for services and rapidly changing science
and technology advances that will create efficiencies and make it easier for
police to do their work smarter and faster.
The report recommended a broader range of incentives for individuals
to move to less sought-after locations and strategies to encourage more
flexible exit and entry opportunities to ensure the workforce is vibrant
and continuing to learn. The report called for urgent review of the outmoded appeals framework, including the role of the Police Appeals Board,
to ensure processes for all Victoria Police employees are consistent with
contemporary workforce practices.
Victoria Police accepted the report’s recommendations which were also
endorsed in the report of the State Services Authority inquiry conducted by
John (Jack) Rush QC (the Rush Report).8 In its response to the Rush Report,
the Victorian Government announced its intention to:
better plan Victoria Police’s future workforce, modernise the regulatory
framework, clarify the accountabilities of police command, and improve
the accountability for, and delivery of, information technology projects.
The Government also announced the streamlining of the appeals
framework which was formalised in the 2011 Enterprise Bargaining
Agreement between Victoria Police and the Victorian Government. Other
aspects of OPI’s recommendations for providing a more flexible workforce
were also incorporated in the 2011 Enterprise Bargaining Agreement.
Crossing the Line (October 2011)
This report deals with an investigation into the relationship between
a Leading Senior Constable of Victoria Police, undertaking secondary
employment as a Ministerial Adviser, and a Deputy Commissioner.
The investigation revealed that the Leading Senior Constable was pursuing
his own political agenda in his role as Police Adviser to the Minister for
Police and Emergency Services. That agenda included feeding journalists
with information intended to undermine the Government’s confidence in
the then Chief Commissioner.

8

State Services Authority 2011 Inquiry into the command, management and functions of the senior structure of
Victoria Police
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The report recommended that any future role of a serving Victoria Police
member in Government should be strictly on a liaison basis reporting
to a Victoria Police superior and not the Minister’s Chief of Staff. This
recommendation was accepted by Victoria Police.
Review of Victoria Police use of ‘stop and search’ powers (May 2012)
This report set out the findings of a review undertaken by OPI into Victoria
Police use of ‘stop and search’ powers in order to determine if the human
rights concerns raised by opponents of the Summary Offences and Control of
Weapons Act 2009 had been realised.
The report evaluated Victoria Police’s use of ‘stop and search’ powers in the
context of the following thematic concerns:
• Arbitrary use of powers
• Targeting of particular groups
•	Inadequate reporting requirements and an inability to measure
effectiveness
• Lack of oversight and review
The OPI report found little evidence to suggest that concerns relating to
arbitrary use of powers or targeting of particular groups had been realised.
The report identified problems with ensuring appropriate transparency
and accountability associated with the use of these powers, finding
Victoria Police is not able to meet the legislative reporting requirements
due to inadequate data collection and retrieval mechanisms. It also found
shortcomings in data collection make it difficult to establish how effective
‘stop and search’ powers have been in reducing knife-related crime in
Victoria.
In addition to recommending improvements to data collection, the report
recommended Victoria Police initiate community discussion regarding
what constitutes a ‘proportionate response’ to intelligence regarding kniferelated crime.
The Chief Commissioner agreed to consider the recommendations in
the report. He noted those recommendations relating to reporting are
dependent on the information technology capabilities of the organisation
but that these were unlikely to be progressed in the foreseeable future.
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Reporting wrongdoing in the workplace: problems for police
(June 2012)
This report examined the systems and practices for police reporting
wrongdoing by their colleagues. The report demonstrated that, together,
the Police Regulation Act 1958, the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 and the
Police Integrity Act 2008 create a complex and confusing framework. This has
affected the quality and consistency of responses to reported wrongdoing
and the experience of those who report it.
The report also concluded that the reactionary and individualistic
protections and obligations in the framework do not address the root
cause of reprisal – a workplace culture of misguided loyalty. While police
attitudes towards reporting workplace wrongdoing have improved over
time, the report found that a culture of misguided loyalty still exists to
some degree in Victoria Police.
The report identified the benefits of a simpler legislative framework for
reporting police wrongdoing. Ultimately, however, it suggested Victoria
Police should strive for cultural change and a workplace that fully supports
individuals who speak up about wrongdoing and therefore have no need
to be protected from acts of reprisal.
Victoria Police accepted OPI’s recommendations and advised it has
commenced work to address the issues contained in the report. Victoria
Police and the Victorian Ombudsman both agreed there is a need for a clearer
legislative framework for police to report wrongdoing in the workplace.
Victoria Police: recurring themes in the management of high profile
investigations (June 2012)
This report draws on OPI’s experience since its inception and discusses
recurring themes in the management of investigations that attract a high
level of media attention. In addition to the recurring problem of ‘leaking’,
other themes from a review of Victoria Police investigations include
significant shortcomings in terms of:
• managing the demand for information
• assessing the potential for a matter to attract public attention
• implementing effective investigation management models
•	assigning investigative responsibility according to the requirements of
the case
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• dealing with conflict of interest and
• managing media relationships.
The recommendations in the report support increased awareness and
management of conflict of interest issues. They also support a more
accountable, open and transparent relationship between police and
mainstream media, with appropriate checks and balances.
In his response to the recommendations in the report the Chief
Commissioner agreed to consider OPI’s suggestion that police be required
to record and account for their relationships with journalists.

Ensuring regard to human rights
One of the Director’s statutory objects is:
to ensure that members of Victoria Police have regard to the human rights
set out in the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.
In monitoring Victoria Police’s human rights compliance OPI must have the
capacity to monitor all areas of policing. Accordingly OPI’s electronic case
management system has the capacity to record all matters that have human
rights significance. OPI’s business priority model which determines how
OPI’s resources are used gives extra weighting to matters considered to
have a significant human rights impact.
The application of OPI’s priority model in the context of a complaint
alleging breach of human rights by police has been the subject of litigation
in the Supreme Court.
Bare v Small & Ors
In February 2010, OPI received a complaint from a young AfricanAustralian man alleging he was assaulted and racially abused by police
in February 2009. At the time of the alleged incident he was 17 years old.
His representative requested that his matter be investigated by OPI rather
than Victoria Police. After applying assessment criteria based on OPI’s
legislative responsibilities, it was determined that the matter should be
referred to Victoria Police for investigation. On receipt of advice regarding
OPI’s determination, the complainant continued his objection to having
Victoria Police investigate his complaint.
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In 2010, the complainant lodged proceedings in the Supreme Court of
Victoria claiming that police had discriminated against him and treated
him in a cruel, inhuman and degrading way in breach of sections 8 and
10(b) of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 (the Charter).
In a seven day hearing in May 2012, the complainant argued through his
legal advisers that there is an implied procedural right within the Charter to
have any claim alleging a breach of section 10(b) of the Charter investigated
‘effectively’. It was argued that to be ‘effective’ an investigation into such a
claim must be conducted by a body that is hierarchically, institutionally and
practically independent from Victoria Police. That is, in this case OPI should
have investigated the complaint. In the course of the hearing the court also
heard arguments that OPI’s assessment of the complaint was flawed.
As at 30 June 2012 the Court had reserved its decision.
Police and mental health review
In September 2011, OPI embarked on a review of responses by Victoria
Police to people who appear to have a mental illness. This follows a
2009 review conducted by the Victorian Auditor General’s Office into
interagency coordination, preparation and effectiveness in responding to
mental health crises in the Victorian community. OPI’s review examines
the extent to which Victoria Police has implemented the Auditor General’s
recommendations and whether more could be done to improve interactions
with people who appear to have a mental illness.
As part of the review, extensive consultation has been undertaken with
police, emergency department providers, mental health clinicians,
Ambulance Victoria, consumers of mental health services, their advocates,
carers and others. It is anticipated the outcome of this review will be tabled
in Parliament in the coming months.
Human rights monitoring strategy
In furtherance of OPI’s human rights monitoring strategy during this
reporting period, OPI has undertaken a number of systems and practices
evaluations in areas of policing which have the potential to have significant
impact on human rights. They include:
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•	A review of the use of stop and search powers.
This review has culminated in a Parliamentary
report and is discussed in the previous section
of this report.
• A review of police responses to people 		
who appear to be mentally ill.
• A review of property and exhibits.

Core components of OPI’s Human Rights
monitoring strategy
Influence Victoria Police through positive
relationships
OPI will influence a Victoria Police human
rights culture through the development of
relationships and partnerships, and
OPI will support Victoria Police to achieve its

Review of Victoria Police’s management of
property and exhibits
Section 20 of the Charter specifically states
a person must not be deprived of his or her
property other than in accordance with the law.
The aim of this review is to identify any risks
to that right in Victoria Police’s management of
property and exhibits. The project team is working
collaboratively with Victoria Police to strengthen
and enhance property management systems and
culture. As at 30 June 2012 OPI had conducted ten
audits at a range of stations servicing metropolitan
and regional Victoria. It is anticipated that the
findings of the review and audit will also be
reported to Parliament later in the year.

own human rights objectives.
Prevent human rights violations
OPI will work with Victoria Police to
strengthen Victoria Police systems and promote
a human rights culture.
Promote human rights culture through
positive reinforcement
OPI will identify and positively reinforce
examples of human rights leadership within
Victoria Police.
Detect and expose human rights violations
OPI will identify systemic weaknesses and
expose individual human rights violations.

Overseeing Victoria Police regulatory compliance
Witness Protection Act 1991
Where the Chief Commissioner of Police decides to terminate a witness’s
participation in the Victoria Police Witness Protection Program, the
person may appeal to the Director, Police Integrity for a review of the
Chief Commissioner’s decision. Appeals must be lodged by the person
concerned within three days of notification from the Chief Commissioner.
The Witness Protection Act 1991 also provides for the Director, Police Integrity
to investigate complaints about matters relevant to the Act (s12(4)) and gives
protected witnesses the right to complain to the Director about police conduct
in relation to matters covered by their Memorandum of Understanding with
the Chief Commissioner (s5(3)).
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In this reporting period, the Director did not consider any appeals.
Sex Offenders Registration Act 2004
Part 4 of the Sex Offenders Registration Act 2004 requires the Chief
Commissioner of Police to establish and maintain a Register of Sex
Offenders. The legislation specifies information which must be included
and who can access it. People registered under the Act are entitled to obtain
a copy of information held about them and may have that information
corrected if it is found to be incorrect. OPI’s role is to monitor compliance
by the Chief Commissioner with these provisions and provide reports on
Victoria Police's compliance to the Minister on request.
OPI has conducted one inspection during this reporting period.
Drugs, Poisons, Controlled Substances Act 1981
The Drugs, Poisons, Controlled Substances Act 1981 provides that the Director,
Police Integrity must carry out an inspection, at least once each financial
year, of the Certificates of Health and Safety Destruction or Disposal as
well as the related reports to be held by the Chief Commissioner of Police.
The results of inspections must be reported to the Minister for Police and
Emergency Services. The circumstances in which the certificates and reports
are required to be completed by Victoria Police are limited to certain drug
seizures without a warrant.
OPI conducted one inspection during this reporting period and provided a
report to the Minister in January 2012.
Terrorism (Community Protection) Act 2003
The Terrorism (Community Protection) Act 2003 imposes a duty on Victoria
Police to notify the Director, Police Integrity and provide a copy of the
making of a preventative detention or prohibited contact order by the
Supreme Court of Victoria on application by Victoria Police. If a person
is taken into custody under such an order, Victoria Police must notify the
Director in writing of this fact. Any person who is subject to a preventative
detention order or prohibited contact order has the right to complain to
the Director in relation to the application of, and their treatment under,
these orders. The Director is entitled to make representations to Victoria
Police regarding the exercise of powers and compliance with provisions
in relation to preventative detention and prohibited contact orders and the
treatment of any person detained under a preventative detention order.
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The Director has not received any notifications from Victoria Police under
this legislation during the 2011–2012 reporting year.

Output performance measures
Target

Actual

Parliamentary reports published

6

*6

Corruption prevention initiatives

50

57

75%

68%

100%

** 99.8%

Quantity

Quality
OPI investigations resulting in significant outcomes
Timeliness
Compliance with complaint handling requirements
prescribed in legislation within set timeframes
* This includes the Annual Report 2011
** This relates to one matter
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Our people
Comparative workforce data 9, 10
Table 1: OPI staffing (headcount as at 30 June each year)
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

137

146

127

130

125

Table 2: Summary of employment levels in June of 2011 and 2012
Fixed term
and casual
employees

Ongoing employees
Employees
(head count)

Full-time
(headcount)

Part-time
(headcount)

FTE

FTE

June 2012

121

110

11

117.4

16

June 2011

120

114

6

118.1

17

9 All figures reflect employment levels during the last full pay period in June of each year
10 Figures shown are based on substantive positions and grades. There are multiple employees in acting
positions due to recruitment difficulties
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Table 3: Details of employment levels in June of 2011 and 2012
2012

2011
Fixed term
and casual

Ongoing

Fixed term
and casual

Ongoing

Gender

Employees
(head count)

FTE

FTE

Employees
(head count)

FTE

FTE

Male

55

54.2

9

59

58.8

10

Female

66

63.2

7

61

59.3

7

Total

121

117.4

16

120

118.1

17

Under 25

2

2

2

2

2

1

25 – 34

40

38.6

5

34

34

4

35 – 44

45

44.1

3

45

44.2

2

45 – 54

23

21.9

4

28

27.1

7

55 – 64

10

9.8

1

10

9.8

1

Over 65

1

1

1

1

1

2

Total

121

117.4

16

120

118.1

17

VPS 1

0

0

0

0

0

0

VPS 2

3

3

0

1

1

0

VPS 3

27

25.9

6

29

28.7

2

VPS 4

26

25.2

3

22

22

6

VPS 5

43

41.8

2

44

42.7

3

VPS 6

19

18.5

1

20

19.7

1

STS

3

3

0

4

4

0

Age

Classification

Table 4: Break down of EOs (Executive Officers) into gender
2012

2011

Ongoing

Ongoing

Male

Female

Vacancies

Male

Female

Vacancies

EO-1

0

0

0

0

0

0

EO-2

0

0

1

1

0

0

EO-3

2

1

0

2

1

0

Director

1

0

0

1

0

0
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Demonstrating our values
OPI supports and encourages a respectful and inclusive workforce that
embraces diversity, equal opportunity and human rights principles.
Despite the uncertain environment with respect to the establishment of
IBAC and the closure of OPI, our dedicated staff continues to pursue the
legislated objects of the Director, guided and inspired by OPI’s four key
organisational values.
Integrity 	Commitment to ethical practice is the essence of who we are.
Excellence 	We are distinguished by our professionalism and the high
quality of our achievements.
Fairness 		We treat others with respect and dignity, our actions and
decisions are just and impartial.
Courage 		We are strong and determined in carrying out the objects of
the Director.
Our online Performance Development Program is aligned with OPI’s
strategic plan. As part of our talent management strategy, the program
assists managers and staff to identify skills, performance goals and areas
for career development. Progress against the goals is tracked through the
year and informs the annual remuneration review. The OPI Staff Reward
and Recognition program culminates in the recognition of outstanding staff
achievements at the annual awards ceremony.
Recruitment and the Sustainable Government Initiative
In December 2011, Sustainable Government Initiatives were announced
including a ‘recruitment freeze’ across the Victorian Public Service.
As an independent officer of the Parliament, the Director has complete
discretion and is not subject to direction or control in the exercise of his
or her statutory powers and functions. These powers include employing
people under the Public Administration Act 2004 and engaging individuals or
organisations to provide services.
That said, since the implementation of the Sustainable Government
Initiative, OPI has operated within the spirit of the guidelines and in
accordance with the Government’s intention. Since the implementation
of the Sustainable Government Initiative, a number of vacancies have not
been filled. All vacant roles have been carefully considered.
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Where positions were considered essential for operational purposes, robust
merit-based recruitment processes were applied to ensure the very best
candidates were employed.
Occupational Health and Safety
OPI is committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy working
environment. In accordance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004,
OPI has a two-tier health and safety committee structure. The committees
meet on a regular basis with senior OPI management for consultation on
occupational health and safety issues.
OPI has an established network of trained occupational health and safety
representatives, workplace contact officers, wardens and first aid officers.
Health and wellbeing support includes access to immunisations, expert
confidential employee counselling and WorkSafe health checks. Staff
members who work in predominately isolated work areas are provided
with first aid and psychological training to mitigate and minimise the risks
associated with their work environments.
A range of internal policies and practices, including the broadly utilised
Flexible Working Arrangements Policy, participation in the Global Corporate
Challenge and Club Red (blood donation initiative) serve to reinforce OPI’s
commitment to both health and wellbeing and work-life balance.
WorkCover
Table 5: Comparative WorkCover statistics
2011 - 2012

2010 - 2011

2009 - 2010

2008 - 2009

No. active claims

*6

3

6

1

Total compensation paid $

221,936

102,464

34,224

408

Total days absent from
work

238

264

116

0

* Three of these claims relate to injuries and a recurrence of an injury associated with
Defensive Equipment and Firearms Training.
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Learning and development
In response to implementing statutory powers that enable certain members
of OPI’s staff to carry defensive equipment and firearms, during 2011 – 2012
OPI invested significant resources in training selected staff. In addition
to ensuring staff are appropriately equipped to defend themselves, the
training also focused on skills associated with de-escalating potentially
confrontational situations.
OPI manages the majority of general staff learning and development needs
and opportunities using a customised database which was developed
in-house. As part of OPI’s commitment to develop good leaders who are
resilient and accountable, a suite of leadership development programs
has been made available for senior staff (VPS 5 and above) as part of their
professional development.
In 2011-12 the Study Assistance Policy was reviewed to ensure support
is provided to staff who undertake studies relevant to their roles or in
areas that will benefit OPI. Twenty-one members of staff received study
assistance. In addition, for the second year in a row, OPI fully funded three
staff to complete the Graduate Certificate Integrity Studies at Wollongong
University.
On average each member of staff attended 6.5 learning initiatives. Average
costs associated with investing in learning and development were $2829.18
per permanent employee.

Governing responsibly

OPI Executive
Our Executive team manages and coordinates OPI’s resources to support
the achievement of the Director’s statutory obligations.
Mr Ron Bonighton, Acting Director, Police Integrity
Mr Ron Bonighton AM became Acting Director, Police Integrity on Monday
16 January 2012. Following a lengthy career in the Commonwealth Public
Service, Mr Bonighton retired from the position of Deputy Secretary of the
Department of Defence in 2005. In addition to his experience in dealing
with sensitive and complex situations at a national level, Mr Bonighton
was closely involved in the move of the Defence Signals Directorate
from Melbourne to Canberra. On 28 June 2012 he was also appointed
Victoria’s inaugural Acting Commissioner for IBAC. He is to continue in
both positions overseeing the establishment of IBAC and the cessation of
operations for OPI.
Dr Diane Sydenham, Acting Deputy Director, Police Integrity
Dr Sydenham joined OPI in mid 2009. As Coordinator Enabling Services
she managed the Finance, Human Resources, Information Technology,
Information Management and Performance and Policy resources for OPI.
Following the resignation of Mr Paul Jevtovic in January 2012, Dr Sydenham
took up the role of Deputy Director, Police Integrity.
Dr Sydenham has an extensive academic background and has held
executive roles with various agencies in the Commonwealth, Hong Kong
and Victorian governments.
Ms Vanessa Twigg, Assistant Director, Police Integrity, Strategic
Projects, Education and Legal Services
Ms Vanessa Twigg joined OPI in December 2004 as Senior Lawyer. In May
2010, Ms Twigg was promoted to the position of Assistant Director. Ms
Twigg has spent 27 years in law enforcement and Government regulatory
agencies, including the National Crime Authority, the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission, the Royal Commission into the Building
and Construction Industry and the Building Industry Taskforce. She
commenced her career as a Criminal Intelligence Analyst before being
admitted to practice as a lawyer in 1995.
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Mr Michael Sherry, Assistant Director, Police Integrity, Intelligence
Mr Michael Sherry joined OPI in 2005 and took up the position of Assistant
Director in 2008. Mr Sherry previously spent 17 years with the South
Australian Police and held positions at the Western Australian Police
Royal Commission and the Corruption and Crime Commission of Western
Australia.
Mr John Nolan, Assistant Director, Police Integrity, Operations
Mr John Nolan joined OPI in 2005 and took up the position of Assistant
Director Operations in September 2006. Mr Nolan came to OPI after
serving with Victoria Police for more than 25 years. During his time with
Victoria Police he held a range of positions and gained extensive experience
in managing and investigating corruption issues.
Mr Greg Carroll, General Counsel
Mr Greg Carroll has more than 25 years experience in all aspects
of Government legal work including crime, law enforcement and
investigations, corporations’ law, general litigation and legal policy and
legislation. Mr Carroll has considerable experience in the specialist area
of police accountability, misconduct and corruption. He was Assistant
Ombudsman from 1998 to 2004 providing legal services to the Ombudsman
and the Deputy Ombudsman (Police Complaints) and was OPI’s Assistant
Director from 2005 to 2010.
Ms Danah Wilson, Acting Coordinator, Enabling Services
Ms Wilson joined OPI in mid 2009 in the Human Resources function before
being promoted to Executive Officer to the Deputy Director. In her current
role, she manages the Finance, Human Resources, Information Technology,
Information Management and Performance and Policy resources for the
Office. Her responsibilities in this portfolio include providing leadership
on the business management framework, risk management and strategic
planning. Ms Wilson is a qualified HR practitioner and has an extensive
background in the private sector in both Australia and the United Kingdom.
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OPI Business Management Framework
During 2011-2012 OPI’s Business Management Framework continued
to evolve. Comprising an Operations Monitoring Committee and an
Organisational Health, Performance and Strategies Forum, the OPI Business
Management Framework provides for appropriate and transparent decisionmaking, organisational management and performance monitoring.
A smaller Operations Monitoring Committee has taken over the functions
of the previous Business Monitoring Committee. This Committee focuses
on managing business workflows, priorities and resources directed at
operational activities relating to complaints, own motion investigations,
matters arising from the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 and active
oversight matters.
The Organisational Health, Performance and Strategies Forum considers
issues from an all-of-office perspective and monitors projects undertaken
to enhance OPI capability and directed at organisational outputs.
Audit committee
OPI has an Internal Audit and Risk Management Committee. The four
person committee comprises two independent members: Chairperson,
Mr Alex Malley FCPA and Mr John Thomson ACA, MAICD. The two OPI
representatives are Ms M Grant, Principal Lawyer, and Ms K Lacey, Senior
Prevention and Education Officer. The Committee meets four times a year.
The main responsibilities of the Committee are to:
•	Review and report independently to the Director on the Annual Report
and all other information relating to OPI finances published by OPI.
•	Assist the Director to review the effectiveness of OPI’s internal
governance including:
–	the effectiveness and efficiency of operations
– reliability of financial reporting
– the effectiveness of OPI’s information systems and
–	compliance with applicable laws and regulations and ensure that
OPI’s resources are adequate and used effectively.
• Coordinate these activities with those of the external auditors.
• Oversee the effective operation of OPI’s risk management framework.
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Initiatives carried out during this reporting period include reviewing the
Committee’s charter to bring it in line with OPI’s business management
framework and recruiting a second OPI representative to the Committee.
The Committee has also convened a risk management round-table meeting
with OPI Managers and Team Leaders to discuss in detail OPI’s Risk
Treatment Register. The Committee now has its own intranet page which
includes relevant policies and procedures, Internal Audit Charter, meeting
dates and committee contact details.
Case management
Significant work has been completed during this reporting period to enhance
and extend OPI’s case management system, IKON. The management of
OPI’s property and exhibits has been migrated into IKON as well as the
introduction of two new modules, one for project management and the
other for covert services.
Performance measurement for integrity agencies
During 2011-2012 the OPI Performance Working Group continued the
development of a performance measurement framework for use by integrity
agencies.
The Performance Working Group has established a draft framework and is
testing the framework on a pilot project. It is anticipated that the framework
will continue to be refined as the pilot project progresses over the coming
months. Once the testing of the framework has been completed it will be
disseminated to other integrity agencies for feedback.
Business continuity exercise
A business continuity and disaster recovery exercise was conducted in May
2012. The desktop exercise involved a complete evacuation of OPI offices
due to a flood. The purpose of the exercise was to test the ability of OPI staff
to respond in accordance with OPI’s current Business Continuity Plan.
The exercise tested evacuation and emergency procedures. Current
information technology systems were found to be robust enough to ensure
business information would be protected during an emergency of this
nature. Several recommendations will be implemented in the coming year
to further enhance a realistic response to any incident that may disrupt
OPI’s business.
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Information and information technology risks
In this reporting period OPI reviewed its information and information
technology risks. After reviewing a range of risk management frameworks,
the ISO/IECC 27000 family of standards has been adopted.
This approach enables OPI to build on its existing technical capability and
skills and progressively implement management and ownership structures
that will manage information and information technology risks. Aspects
of the standards were tailored to reflect OPI’s size and existing governance
structures. The project is ongoing and is being mentored by the Department
of Treasury and Finance.
Green Project
With a view to saving energy, OPI is exploring the viability of extending
OPI’s existing virtual infrastructure to its desktops.
It is anticipated that locating OPI’s required ‘computer power’ in energy
efficient server rooms, rather than on office desktops, will result in an
overall reduction in energy use. There should also be additional benefits
in terms of local and remote access security and reducing costs associated
with maintenance and support.

Human rights
In addition to ensuring Victoria Police compliance with human rights, OPI
has its own responsibility to protect and promote human rights.
Applying Human Rights in Enclosed Environments Research
In furtherance of its responsibility with respect to human rights, OPI
has been an industry partner in research led by Monash University into
Applying Human Rights in Enclosed Environments. This Australian
Research Council Linkage grant project has been underway for three years
and culminated in a conference in February 2012. OPI staff participated in
the conference which attracted eminent international and national experts
and facilitated a conference session.
Submission to Scrutiny of Acts and Regulations Committee
OPI provided a detailed submission to the Scrutiny of Acts and Regulations
Committee Review of the operation of the Charter, which set out reasons for
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OPI’s ongoing support of the Charter. The submission identified the basis
for this support in the way OPI uses the Charter to inform its work and the
positive impact OPI has observed the Charter to have on Victoria Police’s
approach to policing.
Submission in relation to the Optional Protocol on the Convention
Against Torture
In response to a call from the Commonwealth Joint Standing Committee
on Treaties, OPI also made a submission about the proposal for Australia to
ratify the Optional Protocol to the Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel,
Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (New York, 18 December
2002) (‘OPCAT’). OPI’s submission draws on our experience in monitoring
Victoria Police compliance with human rights, in particular the monitoring
of people in police cells.

Recognition of expertise and sharing of knowledge
During the past 12 months OPI has received various external requests
for assistance. In addition to providing information and strategic support
to international and local oversight agencies, national policing bodies
and educational institutions, OPI has hosted a number of international
delegations. These include a delegation from Vietnam’s Office of Central
Steering Committee on Anti-Corruption in August 2011 and a delegation
from China’s Ministry of Supervision in June 2012.
Integrity Commission of Tasmania
OPI continues to provide specialist advice and support to our sister agency in
Tasmania. After signing a Memorandum of Understanding with the agency,
OPI arranged to make available a specialist in forensic financial work.
South Australia’s Attorney-General’s Department
In March 2012 OPI was contacted by the Public Integrity Reform Project
Team from the Attorney-General's Department in South Australia. The
team is responsible for implementing an Independent Commission
Against Corruption and Office of Public Integrity in South Australia and
was seeking advice from OPI on a range of matters. Since that time OPI
has met with representatives from the team on a number of occasions.
The team has been particularly interested in information in relation to
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OPI’s network infrastructure set up, core business applications, electronic
surveillance capabilities, information and communications technology
model/environment, case management system, assessment process,
security arrangements and accommodation requirements. It is anticipated
that contact with the team will continue over the coming months.
Department of Justice
In preparation for the implementation of IBAC, the Department of Justice
established an Anti-corruption Commission Implementation Project Team.
OPI’s management and staff developed a strong, cooperative working
relationship with this team. In addition to providing information about
current work processes and practices to the team, OPI staff have worked
with the team to ensure current OPI infrastructure will be available and
transferable for use by IBAC if required.

OPI’s regulatory compliance
Assumed identities
OPI has powers to acquire and use assumed identities under the Victorian
Crimes (Assumed Identities) Act 2004. The Act has stringent record-keeping
and auditing provisions. The Director must review the records annually
and report certain matters to the Attorney-General, who then tables the
Director’s report in Parliament. The 2010 –2011 report was tabled during
this reporting period. The 2011–2012 report is currently being prepared.
Building Act 1993
OPI does not own or control any Government buildings.
Controlled operations
The Crimes (Controlled Operations) Act 2004 allows OPI to authorise, conduct
and monitor controlled operations for the purpose of obtaining evidence
that may lead to the prosecution of persons for offences. These operations
may involve law enforcement officers participating in conduct for which
they would otherwise be criminally liable.
The Act imposes stringent record keeping requirements in relation to
applications and authorisations for controlled operations. OPI’s compliance
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with these requirements is monitored by the Special Investigations Monitor
pursuant to s42 of the Act.
Two inspections of OPI’s completed controlled operations were undertaken
by the Special Investigations Monitor in the reporting period.
National Competition Policy
OPI is not engaged in any business activities in competition with private
companies or other Government enterprises, nor do its activities generate
revenue.
Surveillance devices
The Victorian Surveillance Devices Act 1999 empowers OPI to use surveillance
devices to monitor or record a person’s private conversations, activities or
geographical locations under warrant. The Act imposes stringent reporting
and record-keeping obligations. The Director is required to report to the
State Attorney-General the number of warrants and certain uses made of the
information obtained under them. The Act also provides for an inspection
function to be undertaken by the Special Investigations Monitor to monitor
OPI’s compliance with the Act. The Special Investigations Monitor tables
the report on results of the inspection to Parliament.
In this reporting period, the Special Investigations Monitor has inspected
OPI’s surveillance devices records twice.
Telecommunication interceptions
OPI reports the exercise of its powers under the Commonwealth
Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979 to the Victorian Minister
for Police and Emergency Services, the Victorian Attorney-General and
the Commonwealth Attorney-General. The Special Investigations Monitor
inspects OPI’s records to determine its compliance with the Victorian
Telecommunications (Interception) (State Provisions) Act 1988 and aspects of
the Commonwealth Act.
This financial year, the Special Investigations Monitor has conducted two
inspections in relation to OPI’s telecommunications interception records.
The Commonwealth Ombudsman inspects OPI’s exercise of powers with
respect to stored communications and conducted one inspection in relation
to OPI’s stored communications records during this reporting period.
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Glossary of terms

Glossary of terms

IBAC

The Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission

OPI

The Office of Police Integrity

PRAG

Police Reform Advisory Group

LEAP

Law Enforcement Assistance Program
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Appendix one:
Disclosure requirements
Freedom of Information Act 1982
A person may make a request to OPI for documents under the Freedom of
Information Act 1982, although s51 of the Police Integrity Act 2008 exempts
certain documents in the possession of OPI from Freedom of Information.
OPI received 12 Freedom of Information requests during the current
reporting period. In four of the requests the documents were determined
by OPI’s Freedom of Information Authorised Officer as being exempt from
Freedom of Information. However, exempt requests were also assessed
to determine whether or not it was appropriate in the circumstances to
exercise discretion in providing certain copies of documents requested. In
three cases some documents were provided.
Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001
During the reporting period, OPI received no disclosures in relation
to its own conduct. The Ombudsman referred three matters to OPI for
investigation under section 43 of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001.
Expenditure on consultancies
Details of individual consultancies that are more than $10,000 are as follows:

Consultant

Purpose of
consultancy

Total
approved
project fee
(excluding
GST)

Expenditure
2011-2012
(excluding
GST)

Estimated
future
expenditure
(excluding
GST)

61,996

30,000

Start date

End date

Provide various
services mainly
employee
assistance
programs and
psychological
testing

September
2009

September
2012

(per annum)

Carfi Psychological
& Rehabilitation
Services

Provide
psychological
assessments for
staff carrying or
using defensive
equipment

July 2011

June 2012

35,000

24,883

—

Peter Donaldson (i)

Senior policing
consultant on
projects

September
2011

August
2012

38,182

40,500

—

The Slater
Marketing Group (ii)

Research on
police attitudes
using focus
groups

January
2011

March
2011

46,400

20,570

—

219,582

147,949

30,000

Carfi Psychological
& Rehabilitation
Services

100,000

Notes:
(i) Project timelines and costs exceeded due to approved project scope changes.
(ii) Expenditure incurred after contract date due to clerical delays.
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In 2011–2012, OPI engaged three consultancies where the total fees payable
to consultants were less than $10,000, with total expenditure of $21,217.
Office-based environmental performance report
Description
Energy
Total energy use
by primary source
Total greenhouse
gas emissions by
primary source

Unit of measure

2011–2012

2010 –2011

Electricity

Megajoules

2,206,940

2,148,872

Electricity

Tonnes of CO2
equivalent

835

809

$ ’000

87

84

Transportation
Fuel consumption

Victorian Industry Participation Act 2003
OPI did not commence or complete any contracts during the reporting year
which require disclosure under the Victorian Industry Participation Policy.
Statement of availability of other information
The following information in respect of OPI is retained and available on
request:
•	A statement of declarations of private interests has been duly completed
by all relevant officers.
•	Details of two overseas visits undertaken during the year, including a
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit.
Subsequent events
Subsequent events to the reporting period, the Victorian Public Service
Workplace Determination 2012 was made by Fair Work Australia, which
replaces the 2009 Extended and Varied version of the Victorian Public Service
Agreement 2006. Further details are provided in Note. 21 of the financial
statements.
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Risk management statement
I, Ron Bonighton, certify that OPI has risk management processes in place
consistent with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 and that an internal control system is
in place that enables the executive to understand, manage and satisfactorily
control risk exposures. The Internal Audit and Risk Management Committee
verifies this assurance and I certify that the risk profile of OPI has been
critically reviewed within the past 12 months.

Ron Bonighton AM
ACTING DIRECTOR, POLICE INTEGRITY
Melbourne,
27 August 2012
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Appendix two: OPI's powers and
functions
The Director, Police Integrity has been provided with powers and
functions to undertake the role given to OPI by Parliament. These powers
are contained in the following legislation:
Act

Police Integrity Act 2008

Responsible Minister

Police and Emergency Services

Purpose

Establish OPI functions and powers.

Act

Police Regulation Act 1958

Responsible Minister

Police and Emergency Services

Purpose

Facilitates the making of complaints to the Director.

Act

Confiscation Act 1997

Responsible Minister

Attorney–General

Purpose

Recovery of proceeds of crime.

Act

Crimes (Assumed Identities) Act 2004

Responsible Minister

Attorney–General

Purpose

Allows OPI to obtain and use assumed identities.

Act

Crimes (Controlled Operations) Act 2004

Responsible Minister

Attorney–General

Purpose

Enables OPI to conduct controlled operations.

Act

Surveillance Devices Act 1999

Responsible Minister

Police and Emergency Services

Purpose

Allows OPI to use surveillance devices under warrant.

Act

Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979

Responsible Minister

Attorney–General (Cwlth)

Purpose

Allows OPI to intercept telecommunications under warrant.

Act

Whistleblower Protection Act 2001

Responsible Minister

Attorney–General

Purpose 	Powers to investigate whistleblower complaints referred by
the Victorian Ombudsman.
Act

Witness Protection Act 1991

Responsible Minister

Police and Emergency Services

Purpose 	Powers to determine appeals against decision of the Chief
Commissioner of Police to terminate witness protection
arrangements.
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Appendix three: Disclosure index

The Annual Report of the Office of Police Integrity is prepared in accordance
with all relevant Victorian legislation. This index has been prepared to
facilitate identification of OPI’s compliance with statutory disclosure
requirements.
Report of Operations

Page

Charter and purpose
FRD 22C

Manner of establishment

9–10

FRD 22C

Objectives, functions, powers and duties

20–41

FRD 22C

Nature and range of services provided

20 –41

Management and structure
FRD 22C

Organisational structure

51

Financial and other information
FRD 8B

Budget Portfolio Statement

FRD 10

Disclosure index

FRD 12A

Disclosure of major contracts

FRD 15B

Executive officer disclosures

N/A
64–65
Nil
45, 49– 50

FRD 22C	Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against
SD 4.2(k) objectives

41

FRD 22C

Employment and conduct principles

46

FRD 22C

Occupational health and safety

47

FRD 22C

Summary of the financial results for the year

70

FRD 22C

Significant changes in financial position during the year

71

FRD 22C

Major changes or factors affecting performance

FRD 22C

Subsequent events

FRD 22C

Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

N/A
61, 109
60

FRD 22C	Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building
Act 1993

56

FRD 22C

Statement on National Competition Policy

57

FRD 22C

Application and operation of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001

60

FRD 22C

Details of consultancies over $10,000

60

FRD 22C

Details of consultancies under $10,000

61

FRD 22C

Statement of availability of other information

61

FRD 24C

Reporting of office-based environmental impacts

61

FRD 25A

Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures

FRD 29

Workforce Data disclosures

SD 4.5.5

Risk management compliance attestation

SD 4.2(g)

General information requirements

SD 4.2(j)

Sign-off requirements

61
44– 45
62
20 –57
2
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Page

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994
SD 4.2(a)

Statement of changes in equity

72

SD 4.2(b)

Operating statement

70

SD 4.2(b)

Balance sheet

71

SD 4.2(b)

Cash flow statement

73

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2
SD 4.2(c) 	Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other
authoritative pronouncements

74

SD 4.2(c)

Compliance with Ministerial Directions

74

SD 4.2(d)

Rounding of amounts

SD 4.2(c)

Accountable Officer’s declaration

SD 4.2(f)

Compliance with Model Financial Report

77
114
70–114

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements
FRD 9A

Departmental disclosure of administered assets and liabilities

N/A

FRD 11

Disclosure of ex gratia payments

N/A

FRD 13

Disclosure of Parliamentary appropriations

FRD 21B

Responsible persons and Executive Officers disclosures

FRD 102

Inventories

FRD 103D

Non-current physical assets

FRD 104

Foreign currency

FRD 106

Impairment of assets

N/A

FRD 109

Intangible assets

N/A

FRD 107

Investment properties

N/A

FRD 110

Cash flow statement

FRD 11C

Defined benefit superannuation obligations

FRD 113

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities
and associates

75
107–108
N/A
93–94
N/A

73
77, 98
N/A

FRD 114A	Financial Instruments – General Government Entities
and public non-financial corporations
FRD 119

Contributions by owners

79, 100–106
72, 85

Legislation
Freedom of Information Act 1982

60

Building Act 1993

56

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001

60

Victorian Industry Participation Act 2003

61

Financial Management Act 2004

74

Multicultural Victoria Act 2004

15, 38–39
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Comprehensive operating statement
for the financial year ended 30 June 2012

					($ thousand)

			

Notes

2012

2011

Continuing operations				
Income from transactions				
Grants		

1(E), 2

21,375

22,425

					
Expenses from transactions			
Employee expenses

1(F), 3

14,537

14,253

Depreciation and amortisation

1(F), 3

1,064

1,531

Interest expense

1(F), 3

59

61

Other operating expenses

1(F), 3

Total expenses from transactions		

6,180

7,199

21,840

23,044

					
Net result from transactions (net operating balance)		

(465)

(619)

					
Other economic flows included in net result			
Net (loss) on non-financial assets

1(G), 4

–

(17)

Other (losses) from other economic flows

1(G), 4

(81)

(4)

(81)

(21)

Total other economic flows included in net result		

					
Comprehensive result		

(546)

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

(640)

Financial statements

Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2012

					($ thousand)

			

Notes

2012

2011

Assets
Financial assets				
Cash		
Receivables

1(I), 17
1(I), 5

Total financial assets		

34

34

4,909

4,853

4,943

4,887

					
Non-financial assets			
Non-financial physical assets classified as held
for sale

1(J), 6

71

–

Property, plant and equipment

1(J), 7

2,543

3,110

Other non-financial assets

1(J), 8

459

494

Total non-financial assets		

3,073

3,604

Total assets		

8,016

8,491

					
Liabilities			
Payables

1(K), 9

880

991

Borrowings

1(K), 10, 16

811

798

Provisions

1(K), 11

2,868

2,670

Total liabilities		

4,559

4,459

Net assets		

3,457

4,032

(3,313)

(2,767)

6,770

6,799

3,457

4,032

		
Equity			
Accumulated (deficit)		
Contributed capital

1(M)

Net worth		

					
Commitments for expenditure

14		

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

15		

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the financial year ended 30 June 2012

($ thousand)
Accumulated
deficit

Contributions
by owner

Total

Balance at 1 July 2010		

(2,127)

6,799

4,672

Net result for the year		

(640)

–

(640)

Balance at 30 June 2011		

(2,767)

6,799

Net result for the year		

(546)

(29)

(575)

Balance at 30 June 2012		

(3,313)

6,770

3,457

4,032		

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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Cash flow statement
for the financial year ended 30 June 2012

					($ thousand)

			

Notes

2012

2011

Cash flows from operating activities				
Receipts and payments			
Receipts from Government		

21,400

22,256

Payments to suppliers and employees		

(20,725)

(21,487)

Interest and other costs of finance paid		

(59)

(61)

Net cash flows from operating activities

616

708

17

						
Cash flow from investing activities			
Payments for non-financial assets		

(884)

(836)

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities		

(884)

(836)

						
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from borrowings		

554

421

Repayment of borrowings and finance leases		

(286)

(284)

Net cash flows from financing activities		

268

137

Net increase in cash held		

0

9

Cash at beginning of the financial year		

34

25

Cash at the end of the financial year

34

34

17

The cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2012

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial
statements for the Office of Police Integrity (OPI) for the period ended 30 June 2012.
The purpose of the report is to provide users with information about OPI's
stewardship of resources entrusted to it.
(A) Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting
Standards (AAS), which include Interpretations, issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). In particular, they are presented in a manner
consistent with the requirements of the AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General
Government Sector Financial Reporting.
Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have
been applied.
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the
resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability,
thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events
is reported.
To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of
terms can be found in Note 23.
These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Director of OPI
and Chief Finance and Accounting Officer on 27 August 2012.
(B) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these
financial statements whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are
recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is
received or paid.
Judgments, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgments
derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised and also in future periods that are affected by the revision.
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Judgments and assumptions made by management in the application of AASs that
have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:
–	the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to
Note 1 (J))
– superannuation expense (refer to Note 1 (F)) and
–	actuarial assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure
of existing staff, pattern of lease claims, future salary movements and future
discount rates (refer to Note 1 (K)).
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and prepared in
accordance with the historical cost convention. Prior year's comparatives have been
restated, where necessary.
(C) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover OPI as an individual reporting entity.
OPI was established in November 2004 by proclamation of the relevant parts of the
Police Regulation Act 1958.
Its principal address is:
Office of Police Integrity
Level 3, South Tower, 459 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Objectives and funding
The functions of OPI include:
–	to ensure the highest ethical and professional standards are maintained in the
Victorian police force
–	to ensure that police corruption and serious misconduct is detected, investigated
and prevented
–	to educate Victoria Police and the community regarding police corruption and
serious misconduct, and their effects and
–	to ensure that members of Victoria Police act with regard to the human rights set
out in the Charter for Human Rights and Responsibilities.
OPI is funded by accrual-based parliamentary appropriations for the provision
of outputs. These appropriations are received by the Department of Justice
and forwarded to OPI in the form of grants. The grants are for expenditure and
including a contribution to depreciation expense.
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(D) Scope and presentation of financial statements
Comprehensive operating statement
Income and expenses in the comprehensive operating statement are classified
according to whether or not they arise from 'transactions' or 'other economic flows'.
This classification is consistent with the whole government reporting format and is
allowed under AASB 101 Presentation of financial statements.
'Transactions' and 'other economic flows' are defined by the Australian system of
government finance statistics: concepts, sources and methods 2005 and Amendments to
Australian system of government finance statistics, 2005 (ABS catalogue No. 5514.0) (the
GFS manual).
'Transactions' are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of
policy decisions, usually interactions between two entities by mutual agreement.
Transactions also include flows within an entity, such as depreciation where the
owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the
consumer of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually
agreed interactions between the Government and taxpayers. Transactions can
be in kind (for example assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal
consideration) or where the final consideration is cash.
'Other economic flows' are changes arising from market re-measurements. They
include:
– gains and losses from disposals of non-financial physical assets and
– net gain or loss from the revaluation of long service leave.
The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AASs.
Balance sheet
Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into
financial assets and non-financial assets.
Current and non-current assets and liabilities (non-current being those assets or
liabilities expected to be recovered or settled more than 12 months) are disclosed in
the notes, where relevant.
Cash flow statement
Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating,
investing, or financing activities. This classification is consistent with the
requirements under AASB 107 Statement of cash flows.
Statement of changes in equity
The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and
owner changes in equity from opening balance at the beginning of the reporting
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period to the closing balance at the end of the reporting period. It also shows
separately changes due to amounts recognised in the ‘comprehensive result’ and
amounts recognised in ‘other economic flows – other movements in equity’ related
to ‘transactions with owner in its capacity as owner’.
Rounding
Amounts in the financial statements (including the notes) have been rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.
(E) Income from transactions
Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow into OPI and the income can be reliably measured at fair value.
Grants
Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) is recognised when OPI
obtains control over the contribution.
(F) Expenses from transactions
Expenses from transactions are recognised as they are incurred and reported in
the financial year to which they relate.
Employee expenses
These expenses include all costs related to employment (other than superannuation
which is accounted for separately) including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax,
leave entitlements, redundancy payments and WorkCover premiums.
Superannuation – defined benefits plan
The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement is the employer
contributions for members of both defined benefit and defined contribution
superannuation plans that are paid or payable during the reporting period.
The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) in its annual financial statements
disclose on behalf of the State as the sponsoring employer the net defined benefit
cost related to the members of these plans as an administered liability. Refer to DTF's
annual financial statements for more detailed disclosures in relation to these plans.
Depreciation and amortisation
All plant and equipment and leasehold improvements (excluding items under
operating leases) that have finite useful lives are depreciated. Depreciation is
calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset's value, less
any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Refer to Note 1(J) for
depreciation policy for leasehold improvements.
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The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments made where
appropriate. The expected useful lives applicable for the years ended 30 June 2011
and 2012 are as follows:
						

2012

2011

Computer and communication equipment		

4 years

4 years

Furniture and fittings		

10 years

10 years

Motor vehicles			

2–5 years

2–5 years

Interest expense
Interest expense is recognised in the period in which it is incurred. Refer to Note 23
for an explanation of interest expense items.
Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses generally relate to rental accommodation, training
courses, maintenance costs, professional services and contractor costs as well as
the day-to-day running costs incurred in the normal operations of OPI. These items
are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.
(G) Other economic flows included in net result
Other economic flows measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities
that do not result from transactions. These include:
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities is made up of the following:
Disposal of non-financial assets
Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of
disposal and is determined after deducting from the proceeds the carrying value
of the asset at that time.
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows consist of mainly gains or losses
from the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to
change in bond interest rates.
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(H) Financial instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another
entity. Due to the nature of OPI’s activities, certain financial assets and financial
liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and
financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132
Financial Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory receivables arising from
taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the definition of financial instruments as
they do not arise under contract. However, guarantees issued by the Treasurer on
behalf of the Department are financial instruments because, although authorised
under statute, the terms and conditions for each financial guarantee may vary and
are subject to an agreement.
Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between
those financial assets and financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial
instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and those that do not.
The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.
Categories of non-derivative financial instruments
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable
payments that are not quoted on an active market. These assets are initially
recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Loans and receivables category includes cash (refer to Note 1(I)), trade receivables,
loans and other receivables, but not statutory receivables.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are
originated. They are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments
are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised
amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the
period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method
(refer to Note 23).
Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of OPI’s
contractual payables, deposits held and advances received and interest-bearing
arrangements other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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(I) Financial assets
Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand.
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash includes bank overdrafts,
which are included as borrowings on the balance sheet.
Receivables
Receivables consist of:
– contractual receivables, which include mainly debtors in relation to the
reimbursement of costs and
– statutory receivables, which include predominantly amounts owing from the
Victorian Government. Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial
instruments. Statutory receivables are not classified as financial instruments.
Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised
as loans and receivables (refer to Note 1 (H) for recognition and measurement).
Statutory receivables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual
receivables (except for impairment) but are not classified as financial instruments
as they do not arise from a contract.
Receivables are subject to impairment testing as described below. A provision for
doubtful receivables is recognised when there is objective evidence that the debts
may not be collected and bad debts are written off when identified.
Impairment of financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, OPI assesses whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial
instrument assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit and loss,
are subject to annual review for impairment.
Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis. Those bad
debts considered as written off by mutual consent are classified as a transaction
expense. Bad debts not written off by mutual consent and allowance for doubtful
receivables are classified as other economic flows in the net result.
The amount of allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
effective interest rate.
In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets which
are not financial instruments, OPI applies professional judgment in assessing
materiality and using estimates, averages and computational shortcuts in
accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of assets.
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(J) Non-financial assets
Non-financial physical assets classified as held for sale
Non-financial physical assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when:
–	the asset is available for immediate use in the current condition and
–	the sale is highly probable and the asset’s sale is expected to be completed within
12 months from the date of classification.
These non-financial physical assets, related liabilities and financial assets are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and are
not subject to depreciation or amortisation.
Property, plant and equipment
All non-financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently
revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an
asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of
acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a machinery of Government change are
transferred at their carrying amount.
The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under a finance lease (refer to
Note 1(L)) is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the
inception of the lease.
The fair value of infrastructure systems and plant, equipment and vehicles is
normally determined by reference to the asset’s depreciated replacement cost, or
where the infrastructure is held by a for-profit entity, the fair value may be derived
from estimates of the present value of future cash flows. For plant, equipment and
vehicles, existing depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for
depreciated replacement cost because of the short lives of the assets concerned.
Leasehold improvements
The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the
shorter remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements.
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Other non-financial assets
Prepayments
Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in
advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.
Rental security deposits
Other non-financial assets also include rental security deposits or bond relating to
office premises. The deposits are refundable when the related lease expires.
(K) Liabilities
Payables
Payables consist of:
–	contractual payables, such as accounts payable, and unearned income including
deferred income from concession arrangements. Accounts payable represent
liabilities for goods and services provided to OPI prior to the end of the financial
year that are unpaid and arise when OPI becomes obliged to make future
payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services. The amounts
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition and
–	statutory payables, such as fringe benefits tax payables.
Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as
financial liabilities at amortised cost (refer to Note 1(H)). Statutory payables are
recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified
as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at
amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.
Borrowings
All interest-bearing liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration
received, less directly attributable transaction costs (refer also to Note 1 (L)). The
measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether OPI has
categorised its interest-bearing liabilities as either financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss or financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference
between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net
result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when OPI has a present obligation, the future sacrifice
of economic benefits is probable and the amount of the provision can be measured
reliably.
The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using
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the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows, using discount rate that reflects the time value of
money and risks specific to the provision.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are
expected to be recognised from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
Employee benefits
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and
salaries, annual leave and long service leave for services rendered to the reporting
date.
(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits annual leave
and accumulating sick leave, are recognised in the provision for employee benefits,
classified as current liabilities. Those liabilities which are expected to be settled
within 12 months of the reporting period are measured at their nominal values.
Those liabilities that are not expected to be settled within 12 months are also
recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, but are
measured at present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
(ii) Long service leave
Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee
benefits.
Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current
liability even where OPI does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months
because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the
entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
– nominal value — component that OPI expects to settle within 12 months and
– present value — component that OPI does not expect to settle within 12 months.
Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the
requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL
liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises
due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an other
economic flow (refer to Note 1(G)).
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(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the
normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. OPI recognises termination benefits when it
is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current
employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.
Employee benefits on-costs
Employee benefits on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and
superannuation are recognised separately from provision for employee benefits.
(L) Leases
A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for
payment.
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based
on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership. Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as
finance infrastructure leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases
OPI as lessee
At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are initially recognised as
assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the lease property or,
if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at
the inception of the lease. The lease asset is depreciated over the shorter of the
estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.
Minimum finance lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the
outstanding lease liability and periodic finance expenses which are calculated
using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the
comprehensive operating statement. Contingent rental associated with finance
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Operating leases
OPI as lessee
Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an
expense in the comprehensive operating statement on a straight-line basis over
the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. The leased
asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.
All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised
as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset,
irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of payments.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, the
aggregate cost of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over
the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.
(M) Equity
Contributions by owners
Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners
are recognised as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of
contributions or distributions have also been designated as contributions by owners.
Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as
distributions to or contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from
administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to owners.
(N) Commitments
Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments
arising from contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way of a note (refer to
Note 14) at their nominal value and inclusive of the goods and services tax (GST)
payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional
relevant information to users, the net present values of significant individual
projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments
once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.
(O) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance
sheet but are disclosed by way of a note (refer to Note 15) and, if quantifiable,
are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented
inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.
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(P) Responsible persons
For the purposes of reporting responsible person's remuneration, OPI has complied
with the requirements of FRD 21B Responsible persons and executive officers
disclosures in the financial statements. However, these disclosures do not reflect
the range of disclosures required of for-profit entities under AASB 124 Related party
disclosures. Notwithstanding this, as the OPI is a not-for-profit entity, disclosure
requirements under AASB 124 do not apply.
(Q) Accounting for goods and services tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST,
except where GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this
case, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the
expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable
or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
The Department of Justice manages the GST transactions on behalf of OPI and the net
amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is recognised in
the Department of Justice’s financial statements. Cash flows are presented on a net
basis exclusive of GST as it is managed by the Department of Justice.
Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are stated inclusive of GST.
(R) AASs issued that are not yet effective
Certain new accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory
for the 30 June 2012 reporting period. DTF assesses the impact of all these new
standards and advises OPI of their applicability and early adoption where
applicable.
As at 30 June 2012, the following AASs have been issued but are not yet effective.
They become effective for the first financial statements for reporting periods
commencing after the stated operative dates, as follows:
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Standard/
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods
beginning on

Impact on OPI financial
statements

AASB 9
Financial instruments

This standard simplifies
requirements for the
classification and
measurement of financial
assets resulting from Phase
1 of the IASB’s project to
replace IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement (AASB
139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and
Measurement).

1 January 2013

Detail of impact is still
being assessed.

AASB 119
Employee benefits

In this revised standard
for defined benefit
superannuation plans,
there is a change to
the methodology in
the calculation of
superannuation expenses.
In particular there is now a
change in the split between
superannuation interest
expense (classified as
transactions) and actuarial
gains and losses (classified
as ‘other economic flows
– other movements in
equity’) reported on the
comprehensive operating
statement.

1 January 2013

Not-for-profit entities are
not permitted to apply
this standard prior to the
mandatory application
date.
While the total
superannuation expense
is unchanged, the revised
methodology is expected
to have a negative impact
on the net result from
transactions of the general
government sector and for
those few Victorian public
sector entities that report
superannuation defined
benefit plans.

AASB 2009-11
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4,
5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112,
118, 121, 127, 128, 131,
132, 136, 139, 1023 and
1038 and Interpretations
10 and 12]

This standard gives effect
to consequential changes
arising from the issuance of
AASB 9.

1 January 2013

No significant impact
is expected from
these consequential
amendments on entity
reporting.
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Standard/
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods
beginning on

Impact on OPI financial
statements

AASB 2010-2
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
Reduced Disclosure
Requirements

This standard makes
amendments to many
Australian Accounting
Standards, including
Interpretations, to
introduce reduced
disclosure requirements
to the pronouncements for
application by certain types
of entities.

1 July 2013

The Victorian Government
is currently considering
the impacts of Reduced
Disclosure Requirements
(RDRs) for certain public
sector entities and has
not decided if RDRs will
be implemented in the
Victorian public sector.

AASB 2011-3
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards – Orderly
Adoption of Changes to
the ABS GFS Manual
and Related Amendments
[AASB 1049]

This amends AASB 1049
to clarify the definition of
the ABS GFS Manual, and
to facilitate the adoption
of changes to the ABS
GFS Manual and related
disclosures.

1 July 2012

This amendment provides
clarification to users
preparing the whole of
government and general
government sector
financial reports on the
version of the GFS Manual
to be used and what to
disclose if the latest GFS
Manual is not used.
No impact on
departmental or entity
reporting.

AASB 2010-7
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 9 (December 2010)
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101,
102, 108, 112, 118, 120,
121, 127, 128, 131, 132,
136, 137, 139, 1023 &
1038 and Interpretations
2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

These consequential
amendments are in relation
to the introduction of
AASB 9.

1 January 2013

No significant impact
is expected from
these consequential
amendments on entity
reporting.

AASB 2011-4
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards to Remove
Individual Key
Management Personnel
Disclosure Requirements
[AASB 124]

This standard amends
AASB 124 Related
Party Disclosures by
removing the disclosure
requirements in AASB 124
in relation to individual
key management personnel
(KMP).

1 July 2013

No significant impact
is expected from
these consequential
amendments on entity
reporting.
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Standard/
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods
beginning on

Impact on OPI financial
statements

AASB 2011-8
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 13
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5,
7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7,
101, 102, 108, 110, 116,
117, 118, 119, 120, 121,
128, 131, 132, 133, 134,
136, 138, 139, 140, 141,
1004, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 2, 4, 12,
13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]

This amending
standard makes
consequential changes to
a range of standards and
interpretations arising
from the issuance of
AASB 13. In particular,
this standard replaces
the existing definition
and guidance of fair
value measurements
in other Australian
Accounting Standards and
Interpretations.

1 January 2013

Disclosures for fair value
measurements using
unobservable inputs is
potentially onerous and
may increase disclosures
for assets measured using
depreciated replacement
cost.

AASB 2011-9
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards – Presentation
of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income
[AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112,
120, 121, 132, 133, 134,
1039 & 1049]

The main change resulting
from this standard is a
requirement for entities
to group items presented
in other comprehensive
income (OCI) on the
basis of whether they are
potentially reclassifiable to
profit or loss subsequently
(reclassification
adjustments). These
amendments do not
remove the option to
present profit or loss and
other comprehensive
income in two statements,
nor change the option to
present items of OCI either
before tax or net of tax.

1 July 2012

This amending standard
could change the current
presentation of ‘Other
economic flows - other
movements in equity’ that
will be grouped on the
basis of whether they are
potentially reclassifiable to
profit or loss subsequently.
No other significant
impact will be expected.

AASB 2011-10
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 119 (September
2011)
[AASB 1, AASB 8,
AASB 101, AASB 124,
AASB 134, AASB 1049
& AASB 2011-8 and
Interpretation 14]

This standard makes
consequential changes to a
range of other Australian
Accounting Standards and
Interpretation arising from
the issuance of AASB 119
Employee benefits.

1 January 2013

No significant impact
is expected from
these consequential
amendments on entity
reporting.
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Standard/
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods
beginning on

Impact on OPI financial
statements

AASB 2011-11
Amendments to
AASB 119 (September
2011) arising from
Reduced Disclosure
Requirements

This standard makes
amendments to AASB
119 Employee benefits
(September 2011) to
incorporate reduced
disclosure requirements
into the standard for
entities applying Tier 2
requirements in preparing
general purpose financial
statements.

1 July 2013

The Victorian Government
is currently considering
the impacts of Reduced
Disclosure Requirements
(RDRs) and has not
decided if RDRs will
be implemented in the
Victorian public sector.

AASB 2011-13
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standard – Improvements
to AASB 1049

This standard aims to
improve the AASB 1049
Whole of Government and
General Government Sector
Financial Reporting at the
operational level. The
main amendments clarify
a number of requirements
in AASB 1049, including
the amendment to allow
disclosure of other measures
of key fiscal aggregates
as long as they are clearly
distinguished from the key
fiscal aggregates and do not
detract from the information
required by AASB 1049.
Furthermore, this standard
provides additional
guidance and examples
on the classification
between ‘transactions’ and
‘other economic flows’ for
GAAP items without GFS
equivalents.

1 July 2012

No significant impact
is expected from
these consequential
amendments on entity
reporting.
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Note 2. Income from transactions
					($ thousand)

			

2012

2011

General purpose grants from the
Department of Justice 		

Notes

21,375

22,425

Total income from transactions		

21,375

22,425

12,445

12,348

Note 3. Expenses from transactions
(a) Employee expenses			
Salaries, wages and long service leave		

Post employment benefits			
Defined benefits superannuation expense		

34

39

Defined contribution superannuation plans		

1,076

1,072

Other on-costs		

830

794

Termination benefits (non-executive employees)		

152

–

14,537

14,253

Leasehold improvements		

71

632

Computer and communications equipment		

615

511

Furniture and fittings		

84

81

Total employee expenses		
(b) Depreciation and amortisation			

Motor vehicles		

11

18

Motor vehicles under finance lease		

283

289

1,064

1,531

54

57

Total depreciation and amortisation

7

(c) Interest expense			
Interest on finance leases

16

Other interest expense		
Total interest expense		

5

4

59

61

(d) Other operating expenses			
Rental expense relating to operating leases			
Minimum lease payments		

1,721

1,777

Contractors and professional services		

1,440

2,035

Technology services costs		

1,037

1,122

Printing, communications and office expenses		

638

734

Travel and transport		

381

501

Training		

361

434

20

21

21

Others			

581

575

6,180

7,199

Auditors’ remuneration
Total other operating expenses		
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Note 4. Other economic flows included in net result
					($ thousand)

				

2012

2011

Net (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

–

(17)

Total net (loss) on non-financial assets		

–

(17)

Net (losses) arising from revaluation of long service liability

(81)

(4)

Total other (losses) from other economic flows		

(81)

(4)

4,262

4,318

(a) Net (loss) on non-financial assets		

(b) Other (losses) from other economic flows		

Note 5. Receivables
Current receivables		
Statutory		
Amount receivable from the Department of Justice		
Other			
Total current receivables		

45

1

4,307

4,319

602

534

Non-current receivables		
Statutory		
Amount receivable from the Department of Justice		
Total non-current receivables		

602

534

Total receivables		

4,909

4,853

Motor vehicles under finance leases held for sale		

71

–

Total non-financial physical assets held for sale

71

–

Note 6. Non-financial physical assets held for sale
Non-current assets		
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Note 7. Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is classified by purpose group as 'public safety
and environment'.
The table below shows the gross carrying amount, accumulated depreciation and net
carrying amount for each class of assets:
($ thousand)

Gross carrying
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net carrying
amount

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

Leasehold improvements at
fair value

2,615

2,615

(2,564)

(2,493)

51

122

Computer and
communications equipment
at fair value

5,024

5,188

(3,906)

(3,663)

1,118

1,525

Furniture and fittings at fair
value

1,549

1,464

(994)

(911)

555

553

163

210

(80)

(93)

83

117

1,096

1,233

(360)

(440)

736

793

10,447

10,710

(7,904)

(7,600)

2,543

3,110

Motor vehicles at fair value
Motor vehicles under finance
leases at fair value

The table below shows movement in carrying amounts for each class of assets:
($ thousand)

Computer and
communications
equipment at fair
value

Leasehold
improvements
at fair value

Furniture and
fittings at fair
value

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

122

733

1,525

1,789

553

538

Additions

–

21

250

318

50

82

Disposals

–

–

(6)

(53)

–

(4)

Reclassification

–

–

(36)

(18)

36

18

Transfer to non-financial
physical assets held for sale

–

–

–

–

–

–

(71)

(632)

(615)

(511)

(84)

(81)

51

122

1,118

1,525

555

553

Opening balance

Depreciation
Closing balance
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Note 7. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
($ thousand)

Motor vehicles at
fair value

Motor vehicles
under finance
lease at fair value

Total

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

117

144

793

866

3,110

4,070

Additions

–

–

554

430

854

851

Disposals

(23)

(9)

(257)

(214)

(286)

(280)

Reclassifications

–

–

–

–

–

–

Transfer to non-financial
physical assets held for sale

–

–

(71)

–

(71)

–

(11)

(18)

(283)

(289)

(1,064)

(1,531)

83

117

736

793

2,543

3,110

Opening balance

Depreciation
Closing balance

Note 8. Other non-financial assets
					($ thousand)

				

2012

2011

428

463

Current other assets		
Prepayments		
Rental security deposit		

31

31

Total current other assets		

459

494

Note 9. Payables
Current payables		
Contractual		
Supplies and services		

864

991

		
Statutory		
FBT payable		

16

–

Total payables		

880

991

(a) Maturity analysis of contractual payables
		
Refer to Note 16 for the maturity analysis of contractual payables
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from contractual payables
		Refer to Note 16 for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual
payables
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Note 10. Borrowings
					($ thousand)

				

2012

2011

(i) Lease liabilities		

425

266

Total current borrowings		

425

266

(i) Lease liabilities		

386

532

Total non-current borrowings		

386

532

Total borrowings		

811

798

Current borrowings		

Non-current borrowings		

Note:
(i)	Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the
lessor in the event of default.
Assets pledged as security
The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security are:

Motor vehicles under finance lease		

736

793

				

736

793

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings
		

Refer to Note 16 for the maturity analysis of borrowings

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from borrowings
		

Refer to Note 16 for the nature and extent of risks arising from borrowings
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Note 11. Provisions
					($ thousand)

			

Notes

2012

2011

Current provisions			
(i) Employee benefits – annual leave

11 (a)		

(ii)	Unconditional and expected to be settled
within 12 months		

633

615

(iii)	Unconditional and expected to be settled
after 12 months		

104

65

(i) Employee benefits – long service leave

11 (a)		

(ii)	Unconditional and expected to be settled
within 12 months		

560

838

(iii)	Unconditional and expected to be settled
after 12 months		

370

191

Provision related to employee benefit on-costs
11 (a) and
			
11 (b)
(ii)	Unconditional and expected to be settled
within 12 months		

266

328

(iii)	Unconditional and expected to be settled
after 12 months		

87

53

Termination benefits (non-executive employees)		

100

–

				

Performance bonus		

146

46

Total current provisions		

2,266

2,136

Note:
(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service 			
leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs.
(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.
			
Non-current provisions			
Employee benefits
Employee benefit on-costs
			

11 (a)

523

463

11 (a) and
79
71
11 (b)		

Total non-current provisions		

602

534

Total provisions		

2,868

2,670
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					($ thousand)

				

2012

2011

Annual leave entitlements		

736

679

Long service leave entitlements		

931

1,030

Termination benefits (non-executive employees)		

100

–

Performance bonus		

146

46

Long service leave entitlements		

523

463

Total employee benefits		

2,436

2,218

(a) Employee benefits and related on-costs (i)
Current employee benefits		

Non-current employee benefits		

Note:
(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service 			
leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs.
Current on-costs		

353

381

Non-current on-costs		

79

71

Total on-costs		

432

452

Total employee benefits and related costs		

2,868

2,670

Opening Balance		

452

339

(b) Movement in provisions for on-costs

Additional provisions recognised		

258

415

	Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices
of future economic benefits		

(278)

(302)

Closing Balance		

432

452

Current		

353

381

Non-current		

79

71

				

432

452
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Note 12. Superannuation
Employees of OPI are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and OPI contributes
to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s)
provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary.
OPI does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s) because
the entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to
its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall
due. The Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s defined benefit
liabilities in its disclosure for administered items.
However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are
included as part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of
OPI.
The name, details and amounts expensed in relation to the major employee
superannuation funds and contribution made by OPI during the period are as
follows:

					($ thousand)

				
(i) Defined benefit plans		

2012

2011

State Superannuation Fund – revised		

34

39

VicSuper		

882

859

Private funds		

194

213

				

1,110

1,111

		
Defined contribution plans		

(i) The bases for determining the level of contributions are determined by the various 			
actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans.

Note 13. Leases
(a) Finance lease
Leasing arrangements
The other finance leases relate to motor vehicles with lease terms of mostly three years.
OPI has options to purchase the vehicles for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the
lease agreements.

Financial statements

($ thousand)

Notes

Minimum future
lease payments

Present value of
minimum lease
payments

2012

2011

2012

2011

Not longer than one year

461

536

425

266

Longer than one year and not longer
than five years

405

305

386

532

Minimum future lease payments

866

841

811

798

Less: Future finance charges

(55)

(43)

–

–

Present value of minimum lease
payments

811

798

811

798

Other finance lease liabilities payable

Included in the financial statements as:
Current borrowing lease liabilities

10

425

266

Non-current borrowing lease liabilities

10

386

532

811

798

(b) Operating lease
Leasing arrangements
Operating leases relate to office facilities with lease terms of between one to five years,
with an option to extend for a further three years. All operating lease contracts contain
market review clauses in the event that OPI exercises its option to renew. OPI does not
have an option to purchase the leased assets at the expiry of the lease period.
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating
leases, not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

					($ thousand)

				
Non-cancellable operating lease payables		

2012

2011

Not longer than one year		

2,211

338

Longer than one year and not longer than five years		

7,629

182

				

9,840

520
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Note 14. Commitments for expenditure
There were no capital or other commitments for OPI at 30 June 2012
(30 June 2011: $nil).

Note 15. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
There were no contingent assets as at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011: $nil).
There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2012.
As at 30 June 2011, OPI was subjected to a possible claim for legal costs of up to
$166,000. OPI's legal liability to pay this sum was doubtful and unclear and is
currently being negotiated.

Note 16. Financial instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives
OPI's principal financial instruments comprise:
–

cash assets

–

payables (excluding statutory payables) and

–

finance lease payables

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the
criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and
expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability
and equity instrument above are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.
The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage OPI's
financial risks within the Government policy parameters.
OPI's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. OPI
manages these financial risks in accordance with its risk management policy.
(b) Categorisation of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of OPI's contractual financial assets and financial liabilities by
category are shown below.
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($ thousand)

Notes

Contractual
financial
assets-loans
and receivables

Contractual
financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

17

34

–

34

34

–

34

9

–

864

864

10

–

811

811

–

1,675

1,675

34

–

34

34

–

34

9

–

991

991

10

–

798

798

–

1,789

1,789

2012
Contractual financial assets
Cash

Contractual financial
liabilities
Payables
Supplies and services
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
2011
Contractual financial assets
Cash

17

Contractual financial
liabilities
Payables
Supplies and services
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
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Note 16. Financial instruments (continued)
The net holding gain/(loss) on OPI’s financial instruments by category are shown
below.
			

			
			

($ thousand)

Total interest
income/(expense)

2012
Contractual financial assets
Financial assets – loans and receivables
			

–
–

Contractual financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised costs
			

(54)
(54)

2011
Contractual financial assets
Financial assets – loans and receivables
			

–
–

Contractual financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised costs
			

(57)
(57)

The net holding gains or losses disclosed above are determined as follows:
•

for cash, loans or receivables and available for sale financial assets, the net gain or
loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, the interest
income, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from revaluation
of the financial assets and minus any impairment recognised in the net result and

•

for financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the net gain or loss is calculated
by taking the interest expense, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses
arising from the revaluation of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial statements

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from contractual financial assets of OPI, which comprise of cash
and non-statutory receivables. OPI’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential
default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to OPI. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.
Credit risk associated with OPI’s financial assets is minimal because the main debtor
is the Department of Justice.
Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is
objective evidence that OPI will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence
includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are more
than 60 days overdue and changes in debtor credit ratings.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial report, net of any
allowances for losses, represents OPI’s maximum exposure to credit risk without
taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.
Contractual financial assets that are either past due or impaired
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to
be impaired. Currently OPI does not hold any collateral as security nor credit
enhancements relating to any of its financial assets.
There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent
them from being past due or impaired and they are stated at the carrying amounts
as indicated. As OPI's financial asset comprises of cash, there are no financial assets
that are past due or impaired.
(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that OPI would be unable to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due. OPI operates under the Government fair payments policy
of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute makes
payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.
OPI's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial
liabilities as disclosed in the face of the balance sheet. The Department of Justice
manages OPI's liquidity risk.
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Note 16. Financial instruments (continued)
OPI’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data
and current assessment of risk.
The carrying amount detailed in the following table of contractual financial liabilities
recorded in the financial statements represents OPI’s maximum exposure to liquidity
risk. The table also discloses the contractual maturity analysis for OPI’s contractual
financial liabilities:
Maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities
($ thousand)

Maturity dates

Carrying
amount

Nominal
amount

Payables

864

864

864

Borrowings

811

866

1,675

Payables
Borrowings

Less than
1 month

1–3
months

3 months
–1 year

1–5 years

178

37

246

405

1,730

1,042

37

246

405

991

991

991

–

–

–

798

841

104

92

340

305

1,789

1,832

1,095

92

340

305

2012

2011

Note:
(a) The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amount (e.g. GST payable).
(b) Maturity analysis presented using contractual undiscounted cash flow.

(e) Market risk
OPI’s exposure to market risk is through foreign currency risk and interest rate
changes. Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are
disclosed in the paragraphs below.
Foreign currency risk
OPI is exposed to insignificant foreign currency risk through its payables relating to
purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas. This is because of the limited
amount of purchases denominated in foreign currencies and a short timeframe
between commitment and settlement.
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Interest rate risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. OPI does not hold any
interest-bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, therefore has
no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
OPI has no exposure to interest rate risk, as all the liabilities are contractually fixed.
Interest rate exposure of financial instruments
($ thousand)

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
2012

Interest rate exposure
Carrying
amount

Fixed
interest
rate

Variable
interest
rate

Noninterest
bearing

34

–

–

34

34

–

–

34

864

–

–

864

%

Financial assets
Cash

Nil

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables
Supplies and services

Nil

Borrowings
Lease liabilities

6.53

Total financial liabilities

811

811

–

–

1,675

811

–

864

34

–

–

34

34

–

–

34

991

–

–

991

798

798

–

–

1,789

798

–

991

2011
Financial assets
Cash

Nil

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables
Supplies and services

Nil

Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Total financial liabilities

6.85

Note:
(a) The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government,
GST input tax credit recoverable and GST payable).
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Note 16. Financial instruments (continued)
(f) Fair value
OPI considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded in the financial statements is a fair approximation of their fair value,
because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation
that they will be paid in full.
The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are considered to be the
same as their carrying amounts.

Note 17. Cash flow information
(a) Reconciliation of cash
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand. Cash at
the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the
related items in the balance sheet as follows:
					($ thousand)

				

2012

2011

Cash			

34

34

Balance as per cash flow statement		

34

34

(546)

(640)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets		

1,064

1,531

(Gain)/loss on sale or disposal of non-current assets		

(79)

(30)

Decrease/(increase) in receivables		

25

(168)

Decrease/(increase) in other non-financial assets		

35

(66)

(Decrease) in payables		

(81)

(359)

Increase in provisions		

198

440

Net cash flows from operating activities		

616

708

		
(b) Reconciliation of net result for the period
Net result for the period		
Non-cash movements:		

Movements in assets and liabilities:		
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Note 18. Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance
under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made
regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.
Names
The persons who held the positions of ministers and accountable officers in OPI
during the financial period were as follows:
Minister for Police and Emergency Services
The Honourable Peter Ryan, MLA

1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012

Acting Minister for Police and Emergency Services
The Honourable Andrew McIntosh, MP

15 July 2011 to 31 July 2011

The Honourable Robert Clark, MP		16 January 2012 to 29 January 2012
The Honourable Andrew McIntosh, MP

15 May 2012 to 21 May 2012

Director, Office of Police Integrity
Michael Strong

1 July 2011 to 15 January 2012

Acting Director, Office of Police Integrity
Ron Bonighton

16 January 2012 to 30 June 2012

Remuneration
Remuneration received or receivable by the Minister is reported in the financial
statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer, Michael Strong, in
connection with the management of OPI during the period 1 July 2011 to 15 January
2012 was $500,000–$509,999 (2010–11: $250,000–$259,999), comprising of base salaries
of $130,000–$139,999 and accrued long service leave and annual leave of $360,000–
$369,999. The remuneration, received or receivable by the Accountable Officer, Ron
Bonighton, in connection with the management of OPI during the period 16 January
2012 to 30 June 2012 was $170,000–$179,999 (2010–11: $nil).
Other transactions
Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure under the Directions of the
Minister for Finance have been considered and there are no matters to report.
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Note 19. Remuneration of executives
The number of Executive Officers, other than Ministers and the Accountable
Officer, whose total remuneration exceeded $100,000 during the reporting period,
are shown in the first column of the table below in their relevant income bands.
The base remuneration of these executive officers is shown in the third column.
Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long service leave payments,
redundancy payments and retirement benefits. The total annualised employee
equivalent provides a measure of full-time equivalent executive officers over the
reporting period.
The difference between the total and base remuneration for the reporting period was
due to bonus payments to executives during the year. These bonus payments depend
on the terms of individual employment contracts.
One executive left during the year (as shown in the total annualised employee
equivalent) which resulted in lower total and base remuneration as compared to the
previous year.

Income band

Total remuneration

Base remuneration

2012		

2011

2012		

2011

No.		

No.

No.		

No.

$130,000 – $139,999

–		

–

1		

–

$150,000 – $159,999

–		

–

1		

–

$160,000 – $169,999

1		

–

1		

2

$170,000 – $179,999

1		

2

1		

1

$180,000 – $189,999

2		

–

–		

–

$190,000 – $199,999

–		

1

–		

–

$260,000 – $269,999

–		

–

–		

1

$270,000 – $279,999

–		

1

–		

–		

Total number

4		

4

4		

4

3.52		

4

3.52		

4

Total annualised employee
equivalent (AEE)
Total amount ($)

708,984 		

811,811

630,232		 776,045
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Note 20. Remuneration of auditors
					($ thousand)

				

2012

2011

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office		
Audit or review of the financial statements		

21

21

				

21

21

Note 21. Subsequent events
The Victorian Public Service Workplace Determination 2012 was made by Fair Work
Australia on 23 July 2012, which replaces the 2009 Extended and Varied Version of the
Victorian Public Service Agreement 2006. The Workplace Determination takes effect
from 29 July 2012 and will remain in force until 31 December 2015. The Workplace
Determination provides for wage increases of 3.25 percent and 1.25 percent on 1
July 2012 and 1 January 2013 respectively over 2012–2013, with six monthly wage
increases thereafter. A lump sum payment of $1,500 (or equivalent pro-rata amount
for part time employees) will also be payable to eligible Victorian Public Service
employees who received a salary on 1 July 2012 and were employed on 29 July 2012.
As the Workplace Determination takes effect from 29 July 2012, no adjustments have
been made to these financial statements other than for the impact on the estimated
accrued employee benefits as at 30 June 2012.

Note 22. Establishment of an independent broad-based
anti-corruption commission
In May 2011, in the 2011-2012 Victorian State Budget, the Government announced
the establishment and operation of an Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption
Commission (IBAC). The Commission's primary functions will be to investigate and
establish strategies to prevent corruption across the entire Victorian public service
and include the judiciary, police, public servants and local and state government
elected positions and their staff. The Commission will incorporate the current
resources, functions, funding and authority of OPI in the Department of Justice once
the Commission's governance has been formalised.
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Note 22.
Establishment of an independent
anti-corruption commission (continued)

broad-based

The implementation date of IBAC is subject to enacting legislation. The financial
impact, if any, of this reform cannot be reliably measured at balance date.
Notwithstanding this, the Victorian Government State Budget has made provision
for the funding of OPI through to 2012-2013 until IBAC's legislative framework
commences full operation.

Note 23. Glossary of terms
Amortisation
Amortisation is the expense which results from the consumption, extraction or use
over time of a non-produced physical or intangible asset. This expense is classified
as a 'transaction' and so reduces the 'net result from transaction'.
Comprehensive result
Comprehensive result is the net result of all items of income and expense recognised
for the period. It is the aggregate of operating result and other non-owner movements
in equity.
Commitments
Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments
arising from non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources.
Depreciation
Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear and tear
of a produced physical or intangible asset. This expense is classified as a 'transaction'
and so reduces the 'net result from transaction'.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised cost of financial asset
and of allocation interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
Employee expenses
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages
and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined
benefits superannuation plans and defined contribution superannuation plans.
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Financial asset
A financial asset is any asset that is:
(a) cash
(b) an equity instrument of another entity
(c) a contractual or statutory right:
(i) to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity or
(ii)	to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under
conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity or
(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:
(i)	a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable
number of the entity’s own equity instruments or
(ii)	a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s
own equity instruments.
Financial instrument
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or
liabilities that are not contractual (such as statutory receivables or payables that arise
as a result of statutory requirements imposed by governments) are not financial
instruments.
Financial liability
A financial liability is any liability that is:
(a) A contractual obligation:
(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or
(ii)	to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity or
(b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:
(i)	a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable
number of the entity’s own equity instruments or
(ii)	a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s
own equity instruments. For this purpose the entity’s own equity instruments
do not include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt
or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.
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Note 23. Glossary of terms (continued)
Financial statements
Depending on the context of the sentence where the term ‘financial statements’
is used, it may include only the main financial statements (i.e. comprehensive
operating statement, balance sheet, cash flow statements, and statement of changes
in equity) or it may also be used to replace the old term ‘financial report’ under the
revised AASB 101 (September 2007), which means it may include the main financial
statements and the notes.
Grants and other transfers
Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a
liability) or labour to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in
return. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.
While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services
to the transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits
of approximately equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as
involuntary transfers and are termed non-reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice
of approximately equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For example,
governments are not obliged to provide commensurate benefits, in the form of goods
or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes.
Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not
subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific
purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions
attached regarding their use.
Interest expense
Interest expense is the costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.
Interest expenses include bank charges and interest component of finance leases
repayments.
Net result
Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is
the net result of items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for
the period, excluding those that are classified as other non-owner changes in equity.
Net result from transactions/net operating balance
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is
income from transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure
of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from
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changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component
of the change in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to
Government policies.
Net worth
Net worth is assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.
Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes plant and
equipment, vehicles, leasehold improvements etc.
Other economic flows
Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that
do not result from transactions. It includes:
• g
 ains and losses from disposals of non-financial physical assets and
• n
 et gain or loss on revaluation of long service leave.
In simple terms, other economic flows are changes arising from market remeasurements.
Payables
Payables include short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes
and interest payable.
Receivables
Receivables include amounts owing from Government through appropriation
receivable, short and long-term trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued
investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.
Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day
running costs, including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of OPI.
Transactions
Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy
decisions, usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also
include flows within an entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously
acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service
provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between
the Government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given
free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. In
simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the Government.
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Accountable Officer’s and Chief Financial
Officer’s Declaration

We certify that the attached financial statements for the Office of Police Integrity
(OPI) have been prepared in accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 of the Financial
Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian
Accounting Standards including Interpretations and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements.
We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive
operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement
and notes to the financial statements presents fairly the financial transactions during
year ended 30 June 2012 and the financial position of OPI as at 30 June 2012.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render
any particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 27 August 2012.

Ron Bonighton AM
Acting Director,
Police Integrity

Duncan Frost FCA
Chief Finance and
Accounting Officer,
Police Integrity

Melbourne, 27 August 2012

Melbourne, 27 August 2012

